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ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT of
1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT of 1934

Commission File No. 1-11859
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant &F)filed all reports required to be filed by Sewcti® or 15(d) of the Securities
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(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsite past 90 days. Ye&l No O
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Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileiix] Accelerated filer
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(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantdbedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgfe Act). YesO No
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30, 2014) was approximately $747 million.

There were 76,342,028 shares of the Registrantisraan stock, $0.01 par value per share, outstaratirigebruary 5, 2015.
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PART |
Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incagtes forward-looking statements within the meamihgection 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 21E of the SéearExchange Act of 1934. These forward-lookiteements are based on current
expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projecéiboat the industry and markets in which we opesattmanagement’s beliefs and
assumptions. Other written or oral statementsdbastitute forward-looking statements may be madesbor on our behalf. Words such as
“expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believé,“could,” “estimate,” “may,” “target,” “strategy,”is intended to,” “project,” “guidance,” or
variations of such words and similar expressiorsitended to identify such forward-looking statetse These statements are not guarantees
of future performance and involve certain risks;entainties, and assumptions that are difficuftriedict. We have identified certain risk
factors included in Item 1A of this Annual RepontBorm 10-K that we believe could cause our agesllts to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements we make. We do not idtenupdate publicly any forward-looking statememtsether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise.

ITEM 1. Business

Pegasystems Inc. was incorporated in Massachuiset®83. Our stock is traded on the NASDAQ GlobeleSt Market under the
symbol PEGA. Our Website address is www.pega.comawe not including the information contained on\ebsite as part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Regon Form 1K. Unless the context otherwise requires, refergmtehis Annual Report ¢
Form 10-K to “the Company,” “Pega,” “we,” “us,” 6our” refer to Pegasystems Inc. and its subsidgarie

Our business: Applications Engineered for Evolution

We believe business success requires that orgamgdiecome digital, and that a new generationrafegic applications can
accelerate how organizations become modern digiiirprises. We power the digital enterprise withtsgic applications built on Pega 7,
our unified on-Cloud and on-premises platform (“®&¢ or “Pega 7 platform”). Pega 7 is designedlmaabusiness and information
technology to collaborate by using a comprehensgtef visual models to build applications: processlels, predictive analytics, user
experience (“UX”") designs, decision logic, etc. §hisual, model-based approach is designed todterfen building, deploying, and evolving
strategic applications than traditional programmiagd to empower our clients to better engage thestomers, simplify processes, and turn
the power of change into a competitive advantage.

We develop, market, license, and support strasgfivare applications for marketing, sales and antiiog, customer service, and
operations, in addition to licensing our Pega Tfpten for clients that wish to build and extendith@vn applications. Our software is
designed to assist clients in building, deployiagd evolving strategic enterprise applicationsating an environment in which business and
IT can collaborate to manage back-office operatifnosit office sales, marketing, and/or customevise needs.

Our applications and platform intersect with andampass several traditional software markets, @ioty Customer Relationship
Management (“CRM"), Business Process ManagemerRKB, Business Rules Management Systems (“BRMSyndnic Case
Management (“DCM”), Decision Management, includigdictive and Adaptive analytics, and the Verti8pécific Software (“VSS”)
market of industry solutions and packaged apptcesti

We also provide consulting services and implementaupport, training, and technical support sawito help clients maximize the
business value from our software. Our clients idelGlobal 500 companies and government agenciesdbk to manage complex enterprise
systems and customer service issues more nimblgasteeffectively. Our strategy is to sell a cliarderies of licenses, each focused on a
specific purpose or area of operations. As we liasad meaningful interest from smaller companies,are expanding our sales force to
extend coverage beyond our traditional Global 5QWi§.
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Our partners

We maintain alliances with global systems integstmd technology consulting firms that providestdting services to our clients.
Strategic partnerships with technology consultingi$ and systems integrators are important to ale@ssefforts because they influence bu
decisions, help us to identify sales opportunities] complement our software with their domain etipe and services capabilities. These
partners may deliver strategic business planniogsualting, project management, and implementationices to our clients. Currently, our
partners include well respected, major firms suchecenture Ltd., Atos SE, Capgemini SA, CogniZgethnology Solutions Inc., Ernst &
Young LLP, Infosys Technologies Limited, Mahindratygm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Tata Consult8ecyices Limited, Virtusa
Corporation, and Wipro Ltd.

Our products

Pega’s applications streamline business operatimms)ect enterprises to their customers in read-tiecross channels, and adapt to
meet changing requirements. Our applications catebéoyed in the Cloud or goremises, providing our clients with the flexibylito operate
the software according to their own preferences.

Pega 7

Pega 7 is a unified platform that enables cliemtsuild enterprise applications in a fraction of time it would take using traditional
programming technologies. Pega 7 is engineeredpgpast complex global enterprises, allowing for lagggion development and deployment
on a patented layered architecture that suppautgeracross lines of business, geographies, anoheeissegments. Our platform features a
model-driven, visual code-free approach to apphicatievelopment that enables business and IT talmwiate, using a visual “language” that
models the requirements and design of the apmicakirough readily understandable metaphors. Tdile approach facilitates continuous
improvement methodologies, such as Lean Six Sigoneffectively manage individual projects or drveomplete enterprise transformation.
All aspects of the application are captured inrttaglel, including business strategy mapping, busipescesses, data models, case definit
rules, decisions, reporting, interfaces, intelligeork management capabilities, business activityitoring, and the UX across both web and
mobile devices.

Once defined this way, the finished application dndumentation are generated and immediately riadyse. Our approach
bypasses the error-prone and tiotgsuming process of manually translating requirgmmto code. The software application is autooaity
created directly from the model, helping to cldse ¢ostly gap between vision and execution. Chattgt®e code are made by changing the
model, and application documentation is generatetity from the model as well. The Pega 7 platfasretandards-based and can leverage a
client’s existing technology to create new busireggslications that cross technology silos and leriiignt and back-office. Pega 7 was
previously marketed as PegaRULES Process Commandehe Build for Change platform.

Strategic Applications

Pegasystems also offers purpose or industry-spesgftiware applications built on the Pega 7 platforhese applications for
Marketing, Sales and Onboarding, Customer SenndeSaipport, and Operations provide a best-prastaging point as well as industry-
specific business processes. As they are builheriPega 7 foundation, these applications deliesilillity beyond traditional commercial of
the shelf” products. We believe our applicatiodevalour clients to offer differentiated service aralue to their customers. Pega 7 enables
organizations to quickly implement new processefine customer experiences, bring new offeringmidoket, and provide customized or
specialized processing to help meet the needdfefeint customers, departments, geographies, otaegy requirements.

2
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Pega Customer Relationship Management Applicatic

Pega’s Customer Relationship Management Applicataye designed to evolve to meet changing busimesds. Our applications
offer process-driven, customer-centric CRM softwtaig maximizes the lifetime value of customers helhs reduce the costs of serving
customers. We provide marketing, sales, and seappécations to optimize sales processes and imgsteervice interactions.

Pega Marketindhelps enterprises manage customer relationshipssartbound and outbound channels. It incorpogadictive ant
adaptive analytics and business rules in real torevaluate the context of each customer intemactia dynamically recommends the most
relevant action, offer, content, and channel.

Pega Customer Servigeovides a contact center desktop, case managdarantstomer service, mobile field service, selfveme,
and industry specific processes and data modedfiolts enterprises to deliver consistent intetaiacross channels, improves employee
productivity, and allows organizations to adapthanging business requirements.

Pega Sales Automati@utomates and manages the sales process from gtioge product fulfillment. Our software allows
enterprises to capture best practices and guides @ams through the sales and customer onbogrdicgsses.

Pega provide®perations Applicationto support a variety of business needs includisig fraud, and compliance management;
exceptions and investigations; order fulfillmergims processing; insurance underwriting; and pcodevelopment.

These applications incorporate and leverage mamyraan technical capabilities. Our case managemehbasiness process
technology facilitates the fulfillment of custontrequests, while our Next-Best-Action analytics jeednd adapt to customer behavior to
improve both business outcomes and the customeriexge.

Decision management is incorporated into theseicgifuns to guide actions and optimize processamés based on business
objectives. Capabilities for cross-sell/up-seltergion, service recommendations, and collectibas¢an be changed with model-driven tools
help businesses deploy automated decision-makiinflguThe predictive and adaptive analytics inargied into these applications support
the creation and refinement of decision modelsiprove outcomes.

Social listening, text analytics, and natural laagg processing capabilities are also availableiirPega Customer Relationship
Management Applications. This allows our clientgdlect social content in tweets, blogs, and post§acebook or in other social
communities, and enrich it by detecting languaggict taxonomy, and sentiment. Using this capabitiur clients are able to monitor, triage,
and respond to social content across multiple ablanand turn it into actionable social intelligenc

Our Pega Co-Browse collaboration technology enatesact center users to provide fast service toykaneously “co-browsing”
Web pages with their customers. The technologgsighed to allow our clients to engage customersahtime, and can also be used to
enable employees to collaborate on work acrossigéyscations.

The Pega Mobile capabilities in our Pega 7 platfarmdesigned to help clients efficiently build,mage, and deploy mobile
applications as part of a unified Omni-channel eigmee. By using Pega Mobile, enterprises can gepkga applications as packaged,
branded mobile applications and manage the comgiéarents of the mobile application lifecycle indhgisecurity, integration, testing, and
management of mobile applications and devices.nnbile application development solutions help besges to reduce the development
time, deployment cost, and complexity associatet win-the-business mobile applications.

3
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Pega Clouc®

Pega Clou® is Pegasystems’ offering that allowentdi to create and deploy our software applicatimitsg an Internet-based
infrastructure. This offering is designed to enalle clients to build, test, and deploy their aggiions in a secure Cloud environment,
minimizing their infrastructure and hardware costs.

Our services and support

We offer services and support through our globatamumer success group, our global customer suppmupgand our
PegaACADEMY—training services group. We also ugilthird party contractors to assist us in providimgse services.

Global Customer Success

Our Global Customer Success group combines ous salg Pega consulting groups and provides guidamtémplementation
services to our clients and partners on how to &gty our technology and develop strong implentériaexpertise.

Global Customer Support

Our Global Customer Support group is responsihiggichnical support. Support services include gwbtracking, prioritization and
escalation procedures, periodic preventive maimesadocumentation updates, and new software edeas

PegaACADEMY—Training Services

The success of our sales strategy for multipl®folbn sales to target clients depends on our abdityatin a large number of partn
and clients to implement our technology. We offairting for our staff, clients, and partners. lnstor-led training is offered at our regional
training facilities in North America, the Unitedtgdom, India, Australia, and at third-party fagd in numerous other locations including
client sites. Online training is an alternative wayearn our software quickly, easily, and cogtetfvely. We expect that the online training
will help expand the number of trained experts fstéer pace. Our courses are designed to mespéwific requirements of process
architects, system architects, and system adnatoss:.

Our markets

Our target clients are primarily large, industrgdéeng organizations that require strategic appbicatto differentiate them in the
markets they serve by increasing business agilitying growth, improving productivity, attractirand retaining customers, and reducing
We deliver applications tailored to our clientsespic industry needs as well as an applicatiorettgyment platform for a multi-channel
environment that can adapt to changing customedsnéle also enable enterprise transformation tiiga by providing an application
development platform that digitizes end-to-end peses and allows for multi-channel customer interas, all enhanced by Next-Best-
Action analytics.

Our clients have typically been large companiethénfinancial services, healthcare, insurance, conications and media, public
sector, manufacturing, and life sciences marketsa¥é expanding our client base to a broader rahgempanies in the Global 2000 within
those markets as well as to additional industries.

Financial Services

Financial services organizations rely on softwarmarket, onboard, cros&ll, retain, and service their customers as veetitdomat
the operations that support these customer interectOur customer service and support, sales ewdagcount onboarding, Know Your
Customer (“KYC"), marketing, collections, and dispumanagement applications allow clients to bearspe to changing business
requirements.
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Healthcare

Healthcare organizations seek software that integrteir front and back-offices and helps thenvdepersonalized care and
customer service while reducing cost, automating@sses, and increasing operational efficiency.applications allow healthcare clients to
address sales, service, operations, financial, mdtrative, and coverage requirements of healthcansumerism and reform.

Insurance

Insurance companies, whether competing globallyationally for customers and channels, need softw@automate the key
activities of distribution management, quoting, eneriting, claims, and policy servicing. Insurers also becoming increasingly sensitive to
ways to improve customer service and the overallazuer experience. Our applications for insurarmcedars help increase business value by
delivering customer-focused experiences and peligedanteractions that help drive higher salesidpexpense ratios, and mitigate risk.

Communications and Media

Communications and media organizations need toeaddrigh levels of customer churn, growing pressunecrease revenue, and
ability to respond quickly to changing market cdiwfis. Our applications enable organizations thaps the way they market and sell to
customers, streamline onboarding and fulfillmergragions, and bring new services and products t&eha

Public Sector

Government agencies need to modernize legacy systathprocesses to meet the growing demands fooweg constituent servic
lower costs, and greater levels of transparenaya®elivers advanced capabilities to streamlingaijmans and optimize service delivery
through an agile, multi-channel approach.

Manufacturing

Manufacturers worldwide are transforming their besises to better engage customers and supplievglass directly manage the
performance of their products—from the earliesigiesthroughout the product life-cycle. Our mantidisiag applications address field
service, reduce supplier risk, manage warranteslis, repairs, and returns as well as extendiegienterprise resource planning system
capabilities.

Life Sciences

Life sciences organizations are looking for solusido improve customer engagement as well as iserefficiencies and transpare
across the product development lifecycle. Our austoengagement, clinical, and pharmacovigilancdiGjons are designed to deliver
customer engagement, safety and risk managemehtegunlatory transparency.

Other Industries

We offer software to a broad range of other tyfesmpanies and industries. For example, we selbpplications and platform to
clients in transportation, retail, travel, energgjlities, and other services.

Competition

We compete in the CRM (which includes marketinggsaand customer service), BPM, Case Managemegisidbn Management,
co-browsing, social engagement, and mobile appicatevelopment platform software markets, as alnarkets for the vertical
applications we provide (e.g. KYC for Financial
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Services, Pharmacovigilance for Life Sciences).sElmmarkets are intensely competitive, rapidly ciramaand highly fragmented, as current
competitors expand their product offerings and nempanies enter the market. Competitors vary ia @i in the scope and breadth of the
products and services they offer. We encounter editigm from:

BPM vendors, including Service-Oriented Architeet(fSOA”) middleware vendors such as IBM, Oraclewation, Software
AG, and Tibco Software Inc., and other BPM vendarsh as Appian Corporation and the Cordys divisio@pen Text

Case Management vendors such as the Documentusiodivif EMC Corporation, the FileNet division ofNBs Information
Management Group, and the BPM/Case Managementativi$ Open Text

CRM application vendors such as Salesforce.comSibleel and RightNow divisions of Oracle, the Mt Dynamics CRM
division of Microsoft, and IBN's Unica Marketing produc

Decision Management vendors including Business idlegine vendors such as the Operational Decisiamadgement and SPSS
divisions of IBM, and the Blaze division of FICOhdavendors of solutions that leverage predictivaits in managing customer
relationships including the Unica Division of IBI

Companies that provide application specific softwfar the financial services, healthcare, insuraand other specific markets
such as Guidewire Software, Inc., the Detica NetReDivision of BAE, SmartStream Technologies L&unGard, SAP, and the
TriZetto division of Cognizan

Mobile application development platform vendorgluding IBM and SAP, as well as open source mdiitdinologies, including
the jQuery Mobile platform from the jQuery Foundatj

Cc-browsing software providers, including the Or’s RightNow Cobrowse Cloud Servic

Social listening, text analytics, and natural laaxge processing vendors, including Attensity, Visibechnologies, and
Salesforce.cornr

Professional service organizations that develo tven products or create custom software in coctjion with rendering
consulting services; ar

Clients’ current information technology departmemthich may seek to modify their existing systemsl@velop their own
proprietary system:

We have been most successful competing for cliwhtsse businesses are characterized by a high defjceange, complexity, or

regulation. We believe that the principal compegitiactors within our market include:

Product adaptability, scalability, functionalityydaperformance

Proven success in delivering ¢-savings and efficiency improvemen

Proven success in enabling improved customer ictierss;

Eastof-use for developers, business units, anc-users;

Timely development and introduction of new produwisl product enhancemer
Establishment of a significant base of referen@ntd;

Ability to integrate with other products and techrgies;

Customer service and suppc

Product price
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. Vendor reputation; an
. Relationships with systems integratc

We believe we are competitively differentiated as wnified Pega 7 platform is designed to allowhbdtent business and IT staff,
using a single, intuitive user interface, to bultterprise applications in a fraction of the timeould take with the types of disjointed
architectures and tools offered by our competitoraddition, our applications, built on the Pegalatform, provide the same level of
flexibility and ability to adapt to our clients’ ads. We believe we compete favorably due to ouertige in our target industries and our long-
standing client relationships. We believe we corapess favorably on the basis of some of thesefagtith respect to our larger competitc
many of which have greater sales, marketing, amghfiial resources, more extensive geographicatpoes and greater name recognition
we do. In addition, we may be at a disadvantagk meispect to our ability to provide expertise algspur target industries. See “Risk
Factors—The market for our offerings is intenseig &ncreasingly competitive, rapidly changing, daighly fragmented.” in Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on a combination of copyrightteat, trademark, and trade secrets laws, as welfdentiality agreements to
protect our proprietary rights. We have obtainegpts relating to our system architecture and petsdim strategic global markets. We enter
into confidentiality and license agreements with @mployees, partners, clients, and other thirtiggaand control access to and ownership of
software, services, documentation, and other petgny information as means to protect our propryetights.

Sales and marketing

We market our software and services primarily tigioa direct sales force. In addition, strategid¢rgaships with management
consulting firms and major systems integratorsragortant to our sales efforts because they infledouying decisions, help us identify sales
opportunities, and complement our software andiseswvith their domain expertise and professioratises capabilities. We also partner
with technology providers and application develgper

To support our sales efforts, we conduct a broageaf marketing programs, including client anduisttly-targeted solution
campaigns, trade shows, including our PegaWORLD esaference, solution seminars and Webinars, ingasalyst and press relations,
Web and digital marketing, community developmeatia media, and other direct and indirect marlggfforts. Our consulting staff,
business partners, and other third parties alsdumrjoint and separate marketing campaigns thagrgege sales leads.

Sales by geography

Sales to clients based outside of the United StetAsnerica (“U.S.”) represented approximately 46%our total revenue during
each of the last three fiscal years. We have désubstantially all of our operating revenue frdma sale and support of one group of similar
products and services during each of the last tliseal years. The majority of our long-lived asseere located within the U.S. at the end of
each of the last three fiscal years. See Note@8pgraphic Information and Major Clients,” includedhe Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual ReporForm 10-K. See “Risk Factors—We face risks figmarations and clients based
outside of the U.S.” in Item 1A of this Annual Repon Form 10-K.

Research and development

Our development organization is responsible fodpob architecture, core technology developmentipeotesting, and quality
assurance. Our product development priority isoltioue expanding the capabilities of our technpldye intend to maintain and extend the
support of our existing strategic applications, amed
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may choose to invest in additional strategic aibns which incorporate the latest business intions. We also intend to maintain and
extend the support of popular hardware platforrpsrating systems, databases, and connectivityreptafacilitate easy and rapid
deployment in diverse information technology infrastures. Our goal with all of our products isstthance product capabilities, ease of
implementation, long-term flexibility, and the ahjlto provide improved client service.

During 2014, 2013, and 2012, research and developexpenses were approximately $108.6 million, $78illion, and $76.7
million, respectively. See Iltem 7 “Management’sddission and Analysis of Financial Condition anduRsf Operations” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for further discussion. We etghat we will continue to commit significant resoes to our product research and
development in the future to maintain our leadgrgusition.

Employees

As of January 31, 2015, we had 2,970 employeesiwinte, of which 1,313 were based in North Amer&B/ were based in Eurog
and 1,040 were based in Asia Pacific.

Backlog of license, maintenance, and services

As of December 31, 2014, we had software licensgnt@nance, Cloud, and services agreements wehtslexpected to result in
approximately $540.3 million of future revenuewdfich we expect approximately $315.3 million torbeognized in 2015. As of
December 31, 2013, we had approximately $505.9anilh backlog of client software license, maintecs, Cloud, and services agreements.
Under some of these agreements, we must fulfitbaeiconditions prior to recognizing revenue, ameré can be no assurance when, if ever,
we will be able to satisfy all such conditions ach instance. Backlog may vary in any given pedegending on the amount and timing of
when arrangements are executed, as well as thbetiween perpetual and term license arrangemensin@ss conditions could change and,
therefore, backlog may not be a reliable indicafduture financial performance. See ltem 7 “Marragat’'s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”ro$ tAnnual Report on Form 10-K for more detail nefijag backlog.

Available Information

We make available our Annual Reports on Form 1@Harterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current RegmrtBorm 8-K, and
amendments to these reports, free of charge througivebsite ( www.pega.com/abeus/investorg as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file such material with, or fushisuch material to, the Securities and Exchangendssion (“SEC”). The SEC maintains a
Website that contains reports, proxy, and infororaitatements and other information regarding isstiat file electronically with the SEC
www.sec.govWe make available on our Website reports filed byexecutive officers and Directors on Forms 3nrl 5 regarding their
ownership of our securities. Our Code of Conduet, ahny amendments to our Code of Conduct, is alaitedle on our Website.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors could cause oumatbusiness and financial results to differ matgrifrom those contained in
forward-looking statements made in this Annual Repo Form 10-K or elsewhere by management frone tiontime.

Factors relating to our financial results

The timing of our license revenue is difficult taredict accurately, which may cause our quarterlyaypting results to vary
considerably A change in the number or size of high value lieemsangements, or a change in the mix betweerepaidicenses, term
licenses, and Pega Clofid subscriptions can causewnues to fluctuate materially from quarteqt@rter. In the event that our clients
choose term licenses or Pega Cléud subscriptioaseaognize the revenue over the license term ga Béoud subscription term, which
may adversely affect our profitability in any peatidue to sales commissions being paid at the tinseggning and the corresponding revenue
being recognized over time. Other factors which mdélyence the predictability of our license reverioclude: changes in customer budgets
and decision making processes that could affett that timing and size of transactions, the defafditense revenue to future periods due to
the timing of the execution of an agreement oratility to deliver the products or services, chanigeour business model, and/or our ability
to execute on our marketing and sales strategies.

We budget for our selling and marketing, productali@oment, and other expenses based on anticifigitee revenue. If the timing
or amount of revenue fails to meet our expectatin@y given quarter, our financial performancbkisly to be adversely affected because
only small portions of expenses vary with reveriga result, period-to-period comparisons of ougrafing results are not necessarily
meaningful and should not be relied upon to prefdittre performance. If our revenues and operatsglts do not meet the expectations of
our investors or securities analysts or fall betwidance we may provide to the market, or dueherdiactors discussed elsewhere in this
section, the price of our common stock may decline.

The number of our license arrangements has beenr@asing, and we may not be able to sustain thisvgito unless we and our
partners can provide sufficient high quality congirlg services, training, and maintenance resourdesenable our clients to realiz
significant business value from our softwarOur clients typically request consulting serviced &aining to assist them in implementing our
products. Our clients also purchase maintenan@oproducts in almost all cases. As a resultparease in the number of license
arrangements is likely to increase demand for dtinguservices, training, and maintenance relatingur products. Given that the number of
our license arrangements has been increasing, lveegd to provide our clients with more consultsegvices, training, and maintenance to
enable our clients to realize significant businessie from our software. We have been increasieghbling our partners and clients through
training to create an expanded universe of petyaiedre skilled in the implementation of our praguélowever, if we and our partners are
unable to provide sufficient high quality consuifiservices, training, or maintenance resourcesita@l@nts, our clients may not realize
sufficient business value from our products toifugollow-on sales, which could impact our futuieancial performance. In addition, the
growth required to meet the increased demand focomsulting services could strain our ability &lider our services engagements at de:
levels of profitability, thereby impacting our oedlrprofitability and financial results.

We frequently enter into a series of licenses tha¢ focused on a specific purpose or area of opimas. If we are not successful i
obtaining follow-on business from these clients, rdinancial performance could be adversely affectale frequently enter into a series of
licenses with our new clients that are focused epexific purpose or area of operations. Onceemtchas realized the value of our software,
we work with the client to identify opportunitiesrffollow-on sales. However, we may not be sucegssfdemonstrating this value to some
clients, for reasons relating to the performancewfproducts, the quality of the services and suppe provide for our products, or external
reasons. Also, certain of our smaller clients mayehlimited additional sales opportunities avagalslor any of these clients, we may not
obtain follow-on sales or the follow-on sales maydelayed, and our license revenue could be limitae could lower the total value of all
transactions and adversely affect our financialquarance.
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Our consulting services revenue is dependent tagmificant extent on closing new license transaati® with clientsWe derive a
substantial portion of our consulting services rexefrom implementation of new software licensethwur clients, both from
implementations that are led by our consultingises/staff and from implementations where we prexidnsulting to our partners and clie
to support their implementations. Accordingly siinperative that we close more license transastiath our clients if we are to maintain or
grow our consulting services revenue.

If we are unable to maintain vendor-specific objaat evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value of our time anahaterials (“T&M")
consulting services arrangements, we may be reqiite@ delay the recognition of a portion of our rewvee to future periods We have
established VSOE of fair value of our T&M consuliservices in North America, Australia, and Eurdpesed on the price charged when
these services are sold separately. The weakeonedmy and significant competition within our indyshave created pricing pressure on
consulting services provided by technology comparifeve elect to discount our T&M consulting sees pricing or otherwise introduce
variability in our T&M consulting services arrangents to attract or retain clients, this could l&adn insufficient number of consistently
priced T&M consulting services arrangements fotausaintain VSOE. If we do not have VSOE of faitueaof our T&M consulting service
we may be required to recognize all revenue fosd@temnsulting services arrangements, includingoaimyglled license, maintenance, and other
services revenue, ratably over the longer of tlieveme maintenance period or the service period.

Our financial results may be adversely affectedhié are required to change certain estimates, judgiseand/or positions relative
to our income and other taxe$n the ordinary course of conducting our globalibess enterprise, we cannot be certain of the atértax
outcome related to many transactions and calculatiBome of these uncertainties arise as a conseg|oé positions we have taken regarc
valuation of deferred tax assets, transfer priéomgransactions with our subsidiaries, and potdallenges to nexus and tax credit
estimates. We estimate our exposure to unfavomlittomes related to these uncertainties and estithatprobability of such outcomes.
Future realization of our deferred tax assets altély depends on the existence of sufficient tax@idome within the available carryback or
carryforward periods. We record a valuation alloe&ato reduce our deferred tax assets to an amaaibelieve is more likely than not to be
realized. If our taxable income is not consisteithwur expectations or the timing of income is within the applicable carryforward period,
we may be required to establish a valuation alla&aon all or a portion of these deferred tax as&#anges in our valuation allowance
impact income tax expense in the period of adjustnmfdthough we believe our estimates are reasenalal assurance can be given that the
final tax outcome of these matters or our currstit@ates regarding these matters will not be diffiefrom what is reflected in our historical
income tax provisions, returns, and accruals. Sliffbrences, or changes in estimates relating teniil differences, could have a material
impact, unfavorable or favorable, on our incomegevisions, require us to change the recordedevafuleferred tax assets, and adversely
affect our financial results. We are also subjeatdn-income taxes such as payroll, sales, useexadded, net worth, property and goods and
services taxes in the U.S. and in various foreigisgictions. We are regularly under audit by tatharities with respect to these non-income
taxes and may have exposure to additional non-iedam liabilities which could have an adverse dftecour results of operations and
financial condition.

If it became necessary to repatriate any of ouréan cash balances to the United States, we maguigect to increased income
taxes, other restrictions, and limitation&s of December 31, 2014, approximately $46.8 millad our cash and cash equivalents is held in
our foreign subsidiaries. If we are unable to restvhis cash outside of the U.S., we may havepatriate some of our foreign cash to the
U.S. which would increase our income tax liabilifyit became necessary to repatriate these fumelsnay be required to pay U.S. tax, net of
any applicable foreign tax credits, upon repawiatiVe consider the earnings of our foreign subsiel$ to be permanently reinvested and, as
a result, U.S. taxes on such earnings have notfr@sided. It is impractical to estimate the amooft).S. tax we could have to pay upon
repatriation due to the complexity of the foreign tredit calculations and other factors.
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We are investing heavily in sales and marketing asupport in anticipation of a continued increase litense arrangements, and
we may experience decreased profitability or loséege are unsuccessful in increasing the valueair license arrangements in the future
to balance our growth in expensed/e have been increasing our investment in salesramlleting to meet increasing demand for our
software by hiring additional sales and marketiegspnnel. We anticipate that we will need to prewadir clients with more maintenance
support as a result of this increase in demandatstdhave been hiring additional personnel in&nésa. These investments have resulted in
increased fixed costs that do not vary with thelef revenue. If the increased demand for our petsidoes not continue, we could
experience decreased profitability or losses &saltrof these increased fixed costs.

Factors relating to our products and markets

We will need to acquire or develop new productyleg existing ones, address any defects or errars] adapt to technology
change. Technical developments, client requirements, Eogning languages, and industry standards chaagadntly in our markets. As a
result, success in current markets and new mawk#tdepend upon our ability to enhance currentdortts, address any product defects or
errors, acquire or develop and introduce new prizdinat meet client needs, keep pace with techgatbgnges, respond to competitive
products, and achieve market acceptance. Produetatenent requires substantial investments foranese refinement, and testing. We may
not have sufficient resources to make necessaguptalevelopment investments. We may experiendeieal or other difficulties that will
delay or prevent the successful development, imgtian, or implementation of new or enhanced preglle may also experience technical
or other difficulties in the integration of acqudreechnologies into our existing platform and aqgtiions. Inability to introduce or implement
new or enhanced products in a timely manner casgdlt in loss of market share if competitors are &b provide solutions to meet customer
needs before we do, give rise to unanticipated esgerelated to further development or modificaibacquired technologies as a result of
integration issues, and adversely affect futurarfoial performance.

The market for our offerings is intensely and inaasingly competitive, rapidly changing, and highlygagigmented We compete in
the CRM, which includes marketing, sales, and custoservice, BPM, Case Management, Decision Managgmo-browsing, social
engagement, and mobile application developmentgptatsoftware markets, as well as markets for #ical applications we provide (e.g.
KYC for Financial Services, Pharmacovigilance fifelSciences). The markets for our software anakeel implementation, consulting, and
training services are intensely competitive, rapatianging, and highly fragmented. We currentlyaemter significant competition from
internal information systems departments of po&bmti existing clients that develop custom softwélVe also compete with companies that
target the BPM, Case Management, Decision Managgmeirowsing, social engagement, and mobile apfitin development platform
markets as well as professional service organizatibat develop custom software in conjunction wathdering consulting services.
Competition for market share and pressure to regrices and make sales concessions are likelyctease. Many of our competitors, sucl
IBM, Oracle, and SAP, are large and have far greasources and may be able to respond more quacidyefficiently to new or emerging
technologies, programming languages, or standartisahanges in client requirements or preferenCespetitors may also be able to de\
greater managerial and financial resources to dpy@romote, and distribute products and to provédieted consulting and training services.
There can be no assurance that we will be ablertpete successfully against current or future cditgpe or that the competitive pressures
faced by us will not materially adversely affect business, operating results, and financial camdit

The continued weakness in international economieaymegatively impact our sales to, and the collentof receivables from, our
financial services and, insurance clients and pddgiour clients in other industriesOur sales to, and our collection of receivablemifrour
clients may be impacted by adverse changes in émtmmomic conditions. In the past few years, rggans which we serve have experien
instability in financial markets, tightening crediind weak overall economic conditions, which Imagacted the financial services and
insurance industries in particular. These trendsdconpact the ability and willingness of our
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financial services and insurance clients, and pbssur clients in other industries, to make invesits in technology, which in turn may
delay or reduce the number of purchases of ouwsoét and services. These factors could also inthactbility and willingness of these
clients to pay their trade obligations and honeirthontractual commitments under their noncanbidigerm licenses. These clients may also
become subject to increasingly restrictive regujatequirements, which could limit or delay thelildy to proceed with new technology
purchases and may result in longer sales cyclesased price competition, and reductions in sa#lesir products and services. Our financial
services and insurance clients as a group reprasgghificant amount of our revenues and receasabccordingly, their potential financial
instability could negatively impact our businegserating results, and financial condition.

We have historically sold to the financial servicéssurance, healthcare, and communications markeasd rapid changes or
consolidation in these markets could affect theééwf demand for our productdVe have historically derived a significant portiminour
revenue from clients in the financial servicesumasice, healthcare, and communications marketssaled to these markets are important for
our future growth. Competitive pressures, industrigsolidation, decreasing operating margins, regglahanges, and privacy concerns
affect the financial condition of our clients amir willingness to buy. In addition, clients’ phasing patterns in these industries for large
technology projects are somewhat discretionary.fiffacial services and insurance markets are godtg intense domestic and
international consolidation and financial turmaihd consolidation has been occurring in the healthand communications markets.
Consolidation may interrupt normal buying behaviamnsl increase the volatility of our operating résuh recent years, several of our clients
have been merged or consolidated, and we expadintitontinue in the near future. Future mergexosolidations may cause a decline in
revenues and adversely affect our future finarpéatormance. All of these factors affect the lesfetlemand for our products from clients in
these industries, and could adversely affect osmmss, operating results, and financial condition.

We rely on certain third-party relationship&Ve have a number of relationships with third partleat are significant to sales,
marketing and support activities, and to produsettspment efforts, including Cloud hosting facési We rely on software and hardware
vendors, large system integrators, and technologgudting firms to provide marketing and sales apputies for the direct sales force and to
strengthen our products through the use of indistagdard tools and utilities. We also have retediops with third parties that distribute our
products. There can be no assurance that theseaoiespmost of which have significantly greateafioial and marketing resources, will not
develop or market products that compete with autké future or will not otherwise end or limit theelationships with us. Further, the use
third-party hosting facilities requires us to rely data security as it is provided by such thirdies, which despite our due diligence may be
less than adequate.

We face risks from operations and clients basedside of the U.SSales to clients located outside of the U.S. regees]
approximately 45% of our total revenue in the thste fiscal years. We, in part through our whallyned subsidiaries, market products and
render consulting and training services to clidrased outside of the U.S. including clients basd@anada, Europe, the Middle East, Latin
America, Asia, and Australia. We have establishifides in North America, Europe (including Russraarurkey), Asia (including India),
and Australia. We believe that growth will necestgitexpanded international operations, requiridiyarsion of managerial attention and
increased costs. We anticipate hiring additionasqenel to accommodate international growth, ananag also enter into agreements with
local distributors, representatives, or resellénsie are unable to do one or more of these thingstimely manner, our growth, if any, in our
foreign operations may be restricted, and our lassinoperating results, and financial conditiona¢be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, we may not be able to maintain or &se international market demand for our prodéatditional risks inherent in our
international business activities generally inctude

. laws and business practices favoring local conrsti
. compliance with multiple, conflicting and changiggvernmental laws and regulations, including emplewt, tax, privacy and
data privacy and protection laws and regulatiomsgased tariffs and other trade barri
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. the costs of localizing products for local markéis|uding translation into foreign languages asdoziated expense

. longer payment cycles and credit and collectabiligl on our foreign trade receivabli

. difficulties in enforcing contractual and intelleat property rights

. heightened fraud and a-bribery awareness risk

. treatment of revenue from international sourcesdrahges to tax codes, including being subjeadt@idn tax laws, being liable

for paying withholding income or other taxes inefign jurisdictions, and other potentially adveiwe ¢consequences (including
restrictions on repatriating earnings and the thoé“ double taxatio”);

. managing our international operations, including@ased accounting and internal control exper
. heightened risks of political and economic insiabiand
. foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations androts

There can be no assurance that one or more of thetees will not have a material adverse effecbanforeign operations, and,
consequentially, our business, operating resuits fimancial condition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchamgées that could negatively impact our financia¢sults and cash flows.
Because a significant portion of our business igocted outside the U.S., we face exposure to advapovements in foreign currency
exchange rates. These exposures may change oeeaditnusiness practices evolve, and they coulddavaterial adverse impact on our
financial results and cash flows. Our internaticsaks are usually denominated in foreign currendibe operating expenses of our foreign
operations are primarily denominated in foreigrrencies, which partially offset our foreign currgrexposure on our international sales. Our
U.S. operating company invoices most of our foraitignts in their local currencies, so it holdsicasd accounts receivable denominated in
these foreign currencies, which are subject tadoreurrency transaction gains or losses. We héasterically entered into foreign currency
forward contracts to manage our exposure to chaingeseign currency exchange rates affecting fymeiurrency denominated accounts
receivable and cash held by our U.S. operating emmprlhe use of these foreign currency forwardreats is intended to partially mitigate
the exposure to the foreign currency transactionsgand losses. We are in the process of reasgemsirhedging strategy and have not
entered into any foreign currency forward contraise February 2014. Although we may resume teeofiforeign currency forward
contracts in the future, amounts denominated ieifior currencies, particularly the British poundrd&Australian dollar, and Indian rupee
relative to the U.S. dollar, may fluctuate in vahred could adversely impact our financial resuttd eash flows.

Factors relating to our internal operations and poential liabilities

We depend on certain key personnel, and must be ablattract and retain qualified personnel in tHeature. The business is
dependent on a number of key, highly skilled techlnimanagerial, consulting, sales, and marketarggnnel, including our Chief Executive
Officer who is also our founder and majority stockter. The loss of key personnel could adverselcafinancial performance. We do not
have any significant key-man life insurance on afficers or employees and do not plan to obtain &y success will depend in large part
on the ability to hire and retain qualified persehmand rapidly replace and ramp up new manageréetnumber of potential employees
who have the extensive knowledge of computer harelaad operating systems needed to develop, sdlima@intain our products is limited,
and competition for their services is intense, tele can be no assurance that we will be abldrecaand retain such personnel. If we are
unable to do so, our business, operating resultsfinancial condition could be materially adveysaifected.
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We may not be able to achieve the key elementsioStrategy and grow our business as anticipat®de currently intend to grow
our business by pursuing strategic initiatives. ikements of our strategy include utilizing ourmertk of partner alliances to support our
growth strategies and developing the talent andrargtional structure capable of supporting ounginaargets. We may not be able to
achieve one or more of our key initiatives. Ourcass depends on our ability to appropriately maoagexpenses as we grow our
organization; successfully execute our marketind) sales strategies; successfully incorporate aedué@chnologies into our unified Pega 7
platform; and develop new products or product enbarents. If we are not able to execute on thesenaciur business may not grow as we
anticipated, and our operating results could beesbly affected.

We may experience significant errors or securitgyls in our product and services, and could facevagdy, product liability, and/o
warranty claims as a resulDespite quality testing prior to their releasejwafe products frequently contain errors or seguidws,
especially when first introduced or when new versiare released. Errors in our software produatidcffect the ability of our products to
work with other hardware or software products, auld delay the development or release of new prisdarcnew versions of products.
Additionally, the detection and correction of amgugrity flaws can be time consuming and costlyoEsror security flaws in our software
could result in the inadvertent disclosure of cdefitial information or personal data relating to dients, employees, or third parties.
Software product errors and security flaws in aadpicts or services could expose us to privacydyxebliability, and/or warranty claims as
well as harm our reputation, which could impact future sales of products and services. Typically enter into license agreements that
contain provisions intended to limit the nature amtent of our risk of product liability and wartgreclaims. There is a risk that a court might
interpret these terms in a limited way or coulddheért or all of these terms to be unenforceablgo Ahere is a risk that these contract terms
might not bind a party other than the direct cliéntrthermore, some of our licenses with our cieare governed by non-U.S. law, and there
is a risk that foreign law might give us less dfatent protection. Although we have not experighaay material product liability claims to
date, a product liability suit or action claimindpeach of warranty, whether or not meritoriousjldaesult in substantial costs and a diver
of management'’s attention and our resources.

We face risks related to intellectual property atas or appropriation of our intellectual property ghts.We rely primarily on a
combination of copyright, trademark, and trade sisciaws, as well as confidentiality agreementsrttect our proprietary rights. We have
obtained patents in strategically important glabaltkets relating to the architecture of our systais cannot assure that such patents will
not be invalidated or circumvented or that rightanged thereunder or the claims contained therdirpmvide us with competitive
advantages. Moreover, despite our efforts to ptatecproprietary rights, unauthorized parties rmttgmpt to copy aspects of our products or
to obtain the use of information that we regarg@prietary. In addition, the laws of some fore@untries do not protect our proprietary
rights to as great an extent as do the laws of/tBe There can be no assurance that our meanstetfing our proprietary rights will be
adequate or that our competitors will not indepetigielevelop similar technology.

There can be no assurance that third parties,dimgjclients, will not claim infringement by us Witespect to current or future
products. Although we attempt to limit the amoumd &ype of our contractual liability for infringemteof the proprietary rights of third
parties, and also assert ownership of work prodadtintellectual property rights as appropriaterghare often exceptions, and we cannot be
assured that limitations will be applicable andoeoéable in all cases. Even if limitations are fdvom be applicable and enforceable, our
liability to our clients for these types of claimsuld be material in amount given the size of ¢erbd our transactions. We expect that
software product developers will increasingly bbjsat to infringement claims as the number of paisliand competitors in our industry
segment grows and the functionality of productdifferent industry segments overlaps. Any suchnefaiwith or without merit, could be
time-consuming, result in costly litigation, cayseduct shipment and delivery delays, or requiréousnter into royalty or licensing
agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreemdnisguired, may not be available on terms acceptabls or at all, which could have a
material adverse effect upon our business, operatisults, and financial condition.

14



Table of Contents

We are subject to increasingly complex and burdem&oU.S. and foreign laws and regulations, and ajidire to comply with
these laws and regulations could subject us to, agather things, penalties and legal expenses tbatild harm our reputation or have a
material adverse effect on our business, financtndition and results of operation§Ve are subject to extensive federal, state andgiore
laws and regulations including but not limited he 1U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.KbBry Act, data privacy, protection and
security laws, and similar laws and regulationse Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Briberst And similar foreign anti-bribery laws
generally prohibit companies and their intermeé®from making improper payments for the purposabtdining or retaining business.
Similar laws and regulations exist in many othairtaes throughout the world in which we do or imdeo do business. Data privacy laws
regulations in Europe, Australia, Latin America alskwhere are undergoing rapid transformation tdsvancreased restrictions. We have
developed and implemented a compliance prograndb@sevhat we believe are current best practicedyding the background checking of
our major vendor and distribution partners andciteation of a data privacy center of excellencéwricannot guarantee that we, our
employees, our consultants or our contractors lavélbbe in compliance with all federal, state dodeign regulations, particularly as we
expand our operations outside of the U.S. If weworrepresentatives fail to comply with any of #hésws or regulations, a range of fines,
penalties and/or other sanctions could be imposagspwhich could have a material adverse effeaiwrbusiness, financial condition and
results of operations. Even if we are not deterchiioehave violated these laws, government invetitigsa into these issues typically require
the expenditure of significant resources and geeeragative publicity, which could also have aneade effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. In additi@gulation of data privacy, protection, and secuatys is increasing worldwide, including
various restrictions on cross-border access osfeamf data including personal data of our empésyelients and customers of our clients.
Compliance with such regulations may increase ostscand there is a risk of enforcement of sucls lasulting in damage to our brand as
well as financial penalties, which could be sigrafit.

Security of our systems and of global customer dsta growing challenge on many fronts. Securityeaches may expose us to
significant legal and financial liabilities.Our security measures, and those of our clienty,meebreached as a result of third-party action, or
that of employees, consultants, or others, inclyditentional misconduct by computer hackers, systeror, human error, technical flaws in
our products, or otherwise. Because the technigsed to obtain unauthorized access or to saboyagenss change frequently and generally
are not recognized until launched against a targetnay be unable to anticipate these techniquésiorplement adequate preventative
measures. While we have invested in the protedi@ur data and systems, and our clients’ dategdace these risks, there can be no
assurance that our efforts will prevent breachesuBty breaches could expose us and our clierdsigk of loss or misuse of this
information. Any security breach could result itoss of confidence in the security of our servit@nage our reputation, disrupt our busin
lead to legal liability, and negatively impact duture sales. We carry data breach insurance cgedwapotentially mitigate the financial
impact of such potential legal liability, thoughstmay prove insufficient in the event of a majogdxch.

Additionally, our Cloud computing service offeriaiows clients to create and deploy Pega 7-basplicafions using an Internet-
based infrastructure. This offering involves thatir of clients’ applications which may contaiméidential information, including personal
and financial data regarding their end customershe servers of a third-party technology provid&e also rely on third-party systems and
technology including encryption, virtualized infrascture, and support. Because we do not conteotrimsmissions between our clients and
our third-party technology providers, the proceggsifidata on the servers of the third-party tecbgglproviders, or the internal controls
maintained by the third-party technology providirat could prevent unauthorized access and prapgeopriate data encryption, we cannot
ensure the complete integrity or security of swahgmissions, data or processing. In addition ggshand security concerns in some parts of
the world may inhibit demand for our Cloud offeringlead to requirements to provide our productsasvices in configurations that may
increase the cost of serving such markets.

The acquisition of other businesses and technolagieay present new risk§Ve have recently undertaken acquisitions and we
continue to evaluate and consider other potertiialegjic transactions, including domestic and ma&onal acquisitions of businesses,
technologies, services, products and other asBe¢se acquisitions, if
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undertaken, may involve significant new risks andartainties, including distraction of managemetgrdgion away from our current business
operations, insufficient new revenue to offset eges, inadequate return on capital, integratiotleriges, new regulatory and/or legal
requirements, new third-party intellectual propentyingement claims related to the acquired tedbgywy and/or services, dilution of
shareholder value, cross border legal issues,smugs$ not discovered in our due diligence prodéssssurance can be given that such
acquisitions will be successful and will not adedysaffect our profitability or operations.

ITEM 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing,mup, and research and development operation®eadeld at One Rogers Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts in an approximately 16360are foot leased facility. Our lease expire20a3, subject to our option to extend
for two additional five-year periods. We also leapace for our other offices in North America, fae@nd the Asia Pacific under leases that
expire at various dates through 2021.

See Note 13 “Commitments and Contingencies,” inNb&es to Consolidated Financial Statements induddtem 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for more information about rarse commitments. We periodically evaluate thejadey of existing facilities and
additional facilities in new cities, and we beligbat additional or alternative space will be aafalié as needed in the future on commercially
reasonable terms.
ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Stock Split

On March 6, 2014, our Board of Directors approved@for-one stock split of our common stock, eféetin the form of a common
stock dividend (the “Stock Split”). On April 1, 281each stockholder of record at the close of lssron March 20, 2014 (the “Record
Date”) received as a dividend, one additional slsdemmon stock, par value $0.01, for each shoemmon stock held on the Record
Date. The number of common shares and per sharerasiior all prior periods presented in this AnnRabport on Form 10-K have been
retroactively restated to reflect the Stock Sebitcept as otherwise noted.

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “PEGA.” Tliellowing table
sets forth the range of high and low sales priéesiocommon stock on NASDAQ for each quarter ia ylears ended December 31:

Common Stock Price (1

2014 2013

High Low High Low
First Quarter $24.8¢ $17.07 $15.1¢ $11.3¢
Second Quarte $21.7¢ $15.51 $16.7¢ $12.2:%
Third Quartel $23.3¢ $19.1( $20.2¢ $16.2¢
Fourth Quarte $21.9¢ $18.4¢ $25.7 $18.4(

(1) The historical per share amounts presented abdeetrthe impact of the Stock Split. S“Stock Spli” above.

Holders

As of February 5, 2015, we had approximately 28ldtolders of record and approximately 10,650 beradfowners of our common
stock.

Dividends

In July 2006, we began paying a quarterly castdéivil of $0.03 per share of common stock. This sgmts $0.015 per share of
common stock on a post-split basis. On May 27, 2@&4announced an increase in our quarterly constmrk cash dividend to $0.03 per
share. Quarterly cash dividends are expected tineenat $0.03 per share, subject to change oirediton at any time by our Board of
Directors.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table sets forth information regamgliour repurchases of our common stock during thetticquarter of 2014.

Total Number Approximate Dollar

of Shares Value of Shares That
Purchased as Pai May Yet Be Purchased at
Period End
of Publicly Under Publicly
Total Number Average Price Announced Share Announced Share
Repurchased Programs (1
of Shares Paid per Repurchase
Period Purchased Share Program (1) (in thousands)
10/1/2014-10/31/2014 59,69: $ 19.1¢ 59,69: $ 98(
11/1/2014-11/30/2014 29,43 $ 20.22 29,43 $ 14,79¢
12/1/2014-12/31/2014 72,60 $ 20.81 72,60: $ 13,28
Total 161,72¢ $ 20.0¢

(1) Since 2004, our Board of Directors has apprastedk repurchase programs that have authorizegethechase, in the aggregate, of up
to $119 million of our common stock. On November 2d14, we announced that our Board of Directotereded the expiration date of
the current stock repurchase program (the “CufPeogram”)to December 31, 2015 and authorized us to repueanaso $15 million ¢
our stock between November 18, 2014 and Decemhe¥03b. Under the Current Program, purchases mayduae from time to time
on the open market or in privately negotiated taatisns. Shares may be repurchased in such amasiniarket conditions warrant,
subject to regulatory and other considerations Haiee established a pre-arranged stock repurchaseiptended to comply with the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-fif&dExchange Act (the “10bb-
Plar”). All share repurchases under the Current Prograimgletosed trading window periods will be made par# to the 10k-1 Plan.

For the restricted stock units granted to employésesnumber of shares otherwise issuable on tsngedate is reduced by a numbe
shares having a value equal to the minimum statut@ome withholding tax that we are required tg pacash to the applicable taxing
authorities on behalf of our employees. We do wosaer these transactions to be common stockcbpses.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Stockblder Return

The following performance graph represents a corsparof the cumulative total stockholder returrs(aming the reinvestment of
dividends) for a $100 investment on December 30920 our common stock, the Total Return Indextfer NASDAQ Composite
(“NASDAQ Composite”), a broad market index, and 8tandard & Poors (“S&P”) North Software- Softwamndex™ (“S&P NSSI”), a

published industry index. We paid dividends of $0p@r share during 2014, $0.045 per share duriig,280.075 per share during 2012 and
$0.06 per share during 2011 and 2010, respectiTély.graph lines merely connect measurement dated@not reflect fluctuations between

those dates.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Date

The selected financial data presented below has degved from our audited consolidated financiatements. This data should be
read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results @e@ations” the consolidated financ
statements and accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands, except per share amount: 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated Statements of Operations C
Total revenue $ 590,00: $ 508,95: $ 461,71 $ 416,67! $ 336,59
Income (loss) from operatiol 51,53¢ 58,09' 31,42¢ 10,49 (2,580)
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income

taxes 47,99¢ 56,39! 30,94¢ 10,81 (6,197)
Net income (loss 33,25¢ 38,04 21,86¢ 10,10¢ (5,89))
Earnings (loss) per shai
Basic (1) $ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1: $ (0.0¢)
Diluted (1) $ 0.42 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1: $ (0.0¢)
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ 0.10¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

(1) The number of common shares and per share @mbane been retroactively restated for all prieniguls presented to reflect the two-
for-one common stock split effected in the formaafommon stock dividend distributed on April 1, 20%ee Item 5 “Market for
Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholdertbtatand Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—kSptit” of this Annual Repo
on Form 1K for further discussion of the Stock Sp

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dz
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 211,21t $ 156,69:. $ 122,98! $ 111,43. $ 87,25

Working capital 163,44t 157,82: 123,88! 89,71¢ 73,60¢
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortiz: 45,66¢ 56,57« 58,23: 69,36¢ 80,68
Goodwill 46,86( 43,46¢ 20,45: 20,45 20,45
Total asset 587,80: 536,48 439,49. 381,71: 337,47"
Total stockholder equity 294,70! 271,78t 236,47¢ 208,75t 195,67(

The following items impact the comparability of axonsolidated financial data:
. Our acquisition of Antenna in October 2013 and aequisition of Chordiant in April 201!

. Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains o8}@illion, $(1.6) million, $0.8 million, $(0.9) rion, and $(5.6) million, during
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 288112010, respectively. See ltem 7A “Quantitatind Qualitative
Disclosure about Market Ri” for further discussion of our foreign currency exxge risk
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ITEM 7.  Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We develop, market, license, and support strategfievare applications for marketing, sales and antling, customer service, and
operations, in addition to licensing our Pega Tfpten for clients that wish to build and extendithewvn applications. Pega 7 assists our
clients in building, deploying, and evolving entésp applications, creating an environment in whiakiness and IT can collaborate to
manage back office operations, front office satesrketing, and/or customer service needs. We atsdade consulting services, maintenance,
and training for our software, as well as a varigtgpplications. Our applications and Pega 7 @addployed in the Cloud or on-premises.

Pega 7 and our related applications are used bgliemts in the financial services, healthcareyrasace, communications and media,
public sector, manufacturing, life sciences, arfttotnarkets. We sell our software directly, and étsough a network of business and
technology alliances. Our partners include majsteays integrators, management consulting firm$nelogy providers, and application
developers.

Our clients include Global 500 companies and gawemt agencies that seek to manage complex entegystems and customer
service issues more nimbly and ceffectively. Our strategy is to sell a client aisemf licenses, each focused on a specific purpoaeea o
operations. As we have found meaningful interesnfsmaller companies, we are expanding our sates fo extend coverage beyond our
traditional Global 500 focus. We license our prddwmnd render consulting and training servicediégmis domestically and internationally,
including in Canada, Europe, the Middle East, Latinerica, Asia, and Australia. In 2014, 2013, afd2, sales to clients based outside o
United States of America (“U.S.”) represented agpnately 45%, of our total revenue. See Note 1&d@raphic Information and Major
Clients,” included in the Notes to Consolidateddficial Statements included in Item 8 of this Anrfraport on Form 10-K for further detail
on our geographic revenues.

Our license revenue is primarily derived from sateur applications in the areas of marketingesand onboarding, customer
service and support, and operations, as well oga Feplatform. Our consulting services revenugiimmarily related to new license
implementations. Our consulting services revenug bealower in future periods as our clients becemabled and our partners lead more
projects. We offer training for our staff, clients)d partners at our regional training facilitiesl at third-party facilities, including client site
Our online training through PegaACADEMY providesaiternative way to learn our software in a virteavironment. We believe that this
online training will continue to expand the numbétrained experts at a faster pace.

We continue to invest heavily in research and dguakent to improve our software. Our research awdldpment operations are
primarily located in the U.S. and India. We alsguiarly evaluate acquisitions or investment oppaties in complementary businesses,
services and technologies, and intellectual prgpaghts in an effort to expand and enhance oudpecbofferings.

The Pega Mobile capabilities in our Pega 7 platfarsmdesigned to help clients efficiently build,mage, and deploy mobile
applications as part of a unified Omni-channel eigmee. By using Pega Mobile, enterprises can gepkpga applications as packaged,
branded mobile applications and manage the congiarents of the mobile application lifecycle indhgisecurity, integration, testing, and
management of mobile applications and devices.mnbile application development solutions help besses to reduce the development
time, deployment cost, and complexity associatet win-the-business mobile applications.

We acquired Antenna Software, Inc. and its subsalig“Antenna”) in October 2013. The operationg\afenna are included in our
operating results from the date of acquisition. Buthe integration of the products, sales foroel, @perations of Antenna, as of the third
quarter of 2014, it is no longer feasible for usdientify the impact of Antenna on our consolidatesults of operations.
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For 2014, we recorded total revenue of $590 mijlamincrease of 16% over 2013. License revenueb®3d2.3 million, an increase
of 21% over 2013. Diluted earnings per share fdrd2@as $0.42 as compared to $0.49 for 2013, a deeref 14%. We generated cash flow
from operations of $99.9 million during 2014, anrigase of 24% over 2013. The increase in cashfflamw operations was primarily driven

by increased net income and our strong accoun¢svadule collections in 2014.

In addition to the above key financial metrics, mg@ment also focuses on license and Cloud badkiognse and Cloud backlog is
computed by adding billed deferred license and €l@venue as recorded on the balance sheet anddiemd Cloud commitments, which
not billed and not recorded on our balance sheeénise and Cloud backlog may vary in any givengekdiepending on the amount and tin
of when arrangements are executed, as well asithbatween perpetual and term license arrangements.

As of December 31 % Change
(Dollars in thousands 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Total billed deferred license and Cloud revenu $ 63,04¢ $ 64,267 $ 40,26 (2)% 60%
Total off-balance sheet license and Cloud
commitments 301,40¢ 283,09¢ 265,22: 6% 7%
Total license and Cloud Backl $364,45’ $347,36t $305,48: 5% 14%

To grow our business, we intend to:

execute sales and support models for the needs @xpanding target marke
employ a digital marketing program in support otcumer buying

utilize our network of partner alliances to suppmirt growth strategies; at

develop talent and an organizational structure loi@paf supporting our growth targe

Whether or not we are successful depends on olityabi

successfully execute our marketing and sales gies;
appropriately manage our expenses as we grow ganization;
develop new products or product enhancements
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201

Total revenue $ 590,00 $ 508,95 $ 461,71 16% 10%
Gross profit 404,911 351,54t 304,33l 15% 16%
Total operating expens 353,37: 293,45: 272,90: 20% 8%
Income from operation 51,53¢ 58,09° 31,42¢ (11)% 85%
Income before provision for income tay 47,99: 56,39 30,94 (15)% 82%
Revenue
(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014vs. 201 2013 vs. 201

Software license revenu

Perpetual license $ 136,15¢ 59% $ 122,64 64% $ 102,43 63% 11% 20%
Term license: 88,81 38% 62,71: 33% 46,63¢ 28% 42% 34%
Subscriptior 7,36¢ 3% 6,521 _ 3% 14,83 9% 13% (56)%
Total software license reven $ 23233 10(% $ 19187 10(% $ 163,90 10(% 21% 17%

The mix between perpetual and term license arrapgevexecuted in a particular period varies basetlient needs. A change in
mix between perpetual and term license arrangenesetsuted may cause our revenues to vary matefially period to period. A higher
proportion of term license arrangements executedldu@sult in more license revenue being recognizest longer periods as payments
become due or earlier if prepaid. Additionally, ®oaf our perpetual license arrangements includenebetd payment terms or additional rights
of use, which also result in the recognition ofelewe over longer periods. The aggregate valuewflisense agreements executed also
fluctuates quarter to quarter.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of the lsltaecognition of license, maintenance and bunsiéetices revenue on license
arrangements that include a right to successomgtsdr unspecified future products. Subscriptmrenue does not include revenue from our
Pega Cloud arrangements, which is included in sesviThe timing of client scheduled payments usdbscription arrangements may limit
the amount of revenue recognized in a reportingpdeConsequently, our subscription revenue may waaterially quarter to quarter.

2014 Compared to 2013

The aggregate value of new license arrangementsuigeceduring 2014 increased compared to 2013 daétgher number of license
arrangements executed in 2014. The increase iaghegate value of license arrangements executegrivaarily due to one perpetual
license arrangement executed in the second qurR&14 for more than $10 million, partially offdet a decrease in the value of new license
arrangements executed in the fourth quarter of 2Dling 2014 and 2013, approximately 82% and 8@Xpectively, of the value of new
license arrangements were executed with existiegtsl.

The increase in perpetual license revenue was ghntlue to the higher number and total value oéffise arrangements executed in
2014. The aggregate value of payments due undeanoellable perpetual licenses was $31.3 millioofd3ecember 31, 2014 compared to
$30.7 million as of December 31, 2013.

The increase in term license revenue was primdtiy/to term license arrangements executed in 20d4h& second half of 2013.
The aggregate value of payments due under nondablesterm licenses and Pega Cloud arrangemenistgr$270.1 million as of
December 31, 2014 compared to $252.4 million eBegfember 31, 2013. See the table of future caghptsdn Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Cash Provided by Operating Activities.
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The increase in subscription revenue in 2014 coetptr 2013 was primarily due to the timing of paptseor a client arrangement.

2013 Compared to 2012

The aggregate value of new license arrangementaitectin 2013 was higher than in 2012. The aggeegatie of new license
arrangements executed in the fourth quarter of 203down slightly as compared to the fourth quat®012. The aggregate value of new
license arrangements executed fluctuates quartprader. During 2013 and 2012, approximately 80 24%, respectively, of the value of
new license arrangements were executed with egistiants.

The increase in perpetual license revenue was phintlue to higher number and total value of pewmpkairrangements executed
during 2013 and the fourth quarter of 2012 thanndu2012 and the fourth quarter of 2011.

The increase in term license revenue was primetiy/to revenue recognized on term license arrangsnegecuted in 2012 and
2011. The aggregate value of payments due undeancerllable term licenses and our Pega Cloud agraegts increased to $252.4 million
as of December 31, 2013 compared to $221.7 milmof December 31, 2012.

The decrease in subscription revenue in 2013 wasapty due to revenue recognized in the secondtgquaf 2012 for a large
payment that became due.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201

Maintenance revenut
Maintenance $ 186,23 $ 157,30 $ 133,52 18% 18%

The increases in maintenance revenue were prinduiyto the growth in the aggregate value of tetalled base of our software ¢
continued strong renewal rates. Maintenance revatitibutable to recognition of the fair value bétacquired Antenna deferred maintenance
revenue was $0.8 million in 2014 and 2013.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201

Services revenu

Consulting service $ 149,62 87% $ 145,78l 91% $ 153,43. 93% 3% (5)%
Cloud 16,61« 10% 8,72( 6% 4,36( 3% 91% 10(%
Training 5181 3% 526¢ 3% 6,485 4% (2)% (19%
Total service: $ 171,42 10(% $ 159,76! 10(% $ 164,27  10(% 7% (3)%

2014 Compared to 2013

Consulting services revenue primarily relate to fieense implementations. The increase in congukrvices revenue was a result
of revenue from Antenna and unusually low serviesgnue in the first quarter of 2013 mainly becaunsay of our large fourth quarter 2012
license arrangements were for the purchase ofiadditusage, which did not require implementatierviees. Our consulting services reve
may decline in future periods as our clients becemsbled and our partners lead more projects.

Cloud revenue represents revenue from our Pegad@lofferings. The increase in Cloud revenue was g@riigndue to growth of our
Cloud client base and Cloud revenue from Antenna.

Training revenue decreased slightly as a resutlugher number of clients taking courses throughRegaACADEMY self-service
online training, which has a significantly loweresmge price per student as compared to our traditiastructor-led training.
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2013 Compared to 2012

The decrease in consulting services revenue wasgly the result of more clients becoming enal@ed our partners leading more
implementation projects.

The increase in Cloud revenue was primarily dugrtavth of our Cloud client base and $1.1 milliorrefenue attributable to
Antenna.

The decrease in our training revenue was primdrily to the increased adoption of our PegaACADEM¥savice online training
by our partners, which has a significantly loweei@ge price per student as compared to our traditiastructor-led training.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Gross Profit
Software licens: $ 227,37 $ 185,59! $ 157,56 23% 18%
Maintenance 166,22! 142,03 118,74( 17% 20%
Services 11,30¢ 23,91¢ 28,02! (53% (15)%
Total gross profi $ 404,91 $ 351,54 $ 304,33 15% 16%
Total gross profit % 69% 69% 6€%
Software license gross profit 98% 97% 96%
Maintenance gross profit ' 89% 90% 8%
Services gross profit ¢ 7% 15% 17%

2014 Compared to 2013
The increase in total gross profit was primarileda increases in software license and mainten@vesue.

The decrease in services gross profit percent wiagfly due to increased subcontractor and emm@eagdated costs associated with
higher headcount, primarily related to Antennavas also due to two large implementation projeatsvhich more revenue without any
associated expenses was recognized in 2013 ti01#h The associated expenses were incurred ingeitods. In addition, European
professional services utilization rates declinediB%014 compared to 2013, primarily due to the kesdng overall economic conditions in
Europe and the completion of a large project.

2013 Compared to 2012

The increase in total gross profit was primarilyda increases in software license and maintenavesue.

The decrease in services gross profit percent wiagly due to lower consulting revenues, costaimed on several projects in 2(
for which the corresponding revenue will be recagdiin future periods as revenue recognition daitead not been met, and increased
employee incentive expenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201

Amortization of intangibles:

Cost of revenu $ 6,015 $ 6,44: $ 6,18¢ (N% 4%
Selling and marketin 6,022 5,17¢ 4,92¢ 16% 5%
General and administrati 1,77C 39¢€ 20 347% 1,88(%

$ 13,80 $ 12,01 $ 1113 15% 8%
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2014 Compared to 2013 and 2013 Compared to 2012

The increases were due to the amortization assacvaith $10.4 million of intangibles acquired frédntenna in October 2013.

Operating expenses

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Selling and marketinc
Selling and marketin $ 206,65 $ 181,09 $ 167,26 14% 8%
As a percent of total reveni 35% 36% 36%
Selling and marketing headcol 661 59¢ 52C 11% 15%

Selling and marketing expenses include compensdiemefits, and other headcount-related expensesiased with our selling and
marketing personnel as well as advertising, proomsti trade shows, seminars, and other progranigdsahd marketing expenses also
include the amortization of customer related inthlag.

The increases in headcount reflect our effortetosase our sales capacity to target new accauetdsting industries as well as to
expand coverage in new industries and geograpdnelsexecute on our marketing strategies to contimgenerate pipeline opportunities.

2014 Compared to 2013

The increase was primarily due to a $14.2 milliecréase in compensation and benefit expenses asbeiith higher headcount,
partially due to Antenna, a $5.6 million increaseriarketing and sales program expenses primatdyeegto PegaWORLD, our annual user
conference, a $2.6 million increase in travel asded with the higher number of sales employeed,aa$0.8 million increase in amortization
associated with our Antenna customer related iniédes)

Effective January 1, 2014, we realigned the orgeional structure of our product management antyddésam. As a result of this
realignment, we changed the classification of thém’s expenses from selling and marketing to rekeand development as the roles of the
members of this team are now aligned with our neteand development efforts. The decrease caus#udealignment partially offset the
increase in headcount as well as the overall iser@aselling and marketing expenses during 20dpesed to 2013.

2013 Compared to 2012

The increase was primarily due to a $9.9 milliocréase in compensation and benefit expenses aegbuiéh higher headcount, a
$1.7 million increase in marketing programs, a $filion increase in commission expense, and a #iillon increase in partner commissi
expense.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Research and developme
Research and developmt $ 108,59 $ 79,72 $ 76,72 36% 4%
As a percent of total reveni 18% 16% 17%
Research and development headct 1,08t 913 727 19% 26%

Research and development expenses include comimendagnefits, contracted services, and other rmaderelated expenses
associated with the creation and development opoadlucts as well as enhancements and enginedrangges to existing products and
integration of acquired technologies.
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The increases in headcount reflect the impact aé#ma and the growth in our India research facdiywe have been replacing
contractors with employees. The increases in ofisheadcount lowered our average compensation sgper employee.

2014 Compared to 2013

The increase was primarily due to a $20.9 milliecréase in compensation and benefit expenses assbeiith higher headcount,
inclusive of the compensation and benefit expeasssciated with Antenna and with our product mamesge and design group now included
in research and development, a $2.3 million in@eéasomputer and computer-related costs, and&rsillion increase in contracted
professional services.

2013 Compared to 2012

The increase was primarily due to a $7.4 milliocr@ase in compensation and benefit expenses assbuwih higher headcount,
partially offset by a $2.3 million decrease in em@gring contractor expenses and a decrease iamdrequipment-related expenses.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
General and administrative
General and administrati $ 37,44 $ 29,59 $ 28,91 27% 2%
As a percent of total reveni 6% 6% 6%
General and administrative headco 31C 271 251 14% 8%

General and administrative expenses include conapiens benefits, and other headcount-related exgseassociated with the
finance, legal, corporate governance, and otheirasirative headcount. It also includes accountiegal, and other professional consulting,
and administrative fees.

The general and administrative headcount includgd@yees in human resources, information technotyl/corporate services
departments whose costs are allocated to the frestr dunctional departments.

2014 Compared to 2013

The increase was primarily due to a $2.6 milliocréase in compensation and benefits associatechigitier headcount, a $2 million
increase in professional fees primarily associatithl legal and audit costs, and a $1.4 million @&xge in amortization associated with our
trademark and non-compete intangible assets.

2013 Compared to 2012

The increase was primarily due to compensationbemefits associated with higher headcount.

Acquisition-related

Acquisition+elated costs are expensed as incurred and indiuele and incremental costs associated with aridimg or complete
acquisition. During 2014 and 2013, the $0.5 millaord $1.3 million of acquisition-related costs wprenarily professional fees associated
with our acquisition of Antenna.
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Restructuring

The restructuring expenses represent future lemgmgnts and demising costs, net of estimated ssibiaaome, for space acquiret
connection with the Antenna acquisition. During therth quarter of 2013, we ceased use of sombi®kpace as part of our integration of
Antenna and recognized $1.7 million in expensesiriguhe third quarter of 2014, we restructuredrgm@aining space and revised our
estimate of sublease income for the previouslyuesired space, recognizing $0.2 million in restutiog expenses. See Note 12 “Accrued
Restructuring” in the Notes to Consolidated FinahS8tatements included in Item 8 of this Annual &&pn Form 10-K for further
discussion.

Stocl-based compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseassbwith equity awards in our consolidated statets of operations based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of graimy the accelerated recognition method with e&sling tranche treated as if it were an
individual grant.

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change

2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Stoclk-based compensatio
Cost of revenue $ 5,33 $ 4,08 $ 3,65! 31% 12%
Operating expenst 13,87( 8,78¢ 7,851 58% 12%
Total stocl-based compensation before 19,20¢ 12,86¢ 11,50¢ 49% 12%
Income tax benefi (5,567) (3,919 (3,699

2014 Compared to 2013

The increase was primarily due to the timing of2083 and 2012 annual equity grants, which occurrédarch 2014 and Decemk
2012, respectively, as well as the higher valuhef2013 annual equity grant, executive new hieagr made since September 30, 2013, and
awards granted in connection with the 2014 acqoisst

2013 Compared to 2012
The increase was primarily due to a full year giense on the December 2012 annual equity grant.

See Note 15 “Stock-Based Compensation” in the Nmt€*onsolidated Financial Statements includedemI8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K for further information on our stocaded awards.

Non-operating income and (expenses), net

(Dollars in thousands Year Ended December 31 % Change
2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 201 2013 vs. 201
Foreign currency transaction (loss) gain $ (3,769 $ (1,599 $ 78C 1371% (309)%
Interest income, ne 68< 524 41¢ 3C% 25%
Other expense, n (459) (63E) (1,680) (28)% (62)%
$ (3,54) $ (1,709 $  (48) 10&% 254%

We have historically used foreign currency forweoditracts (“forward contracts”) to manage our expedo changes in foreign
currency denominated accounts receivable, interemypayables, and cash primarily held by our Ugerating company. We have not
designated these forward contracts as hedgingiimsints and as a result, we record the fair valukebutstanding contracts at the end of the
reporting period
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in our consolidated balance sheet, with any fluibna in the value of these contracts recognizeathier expense (income), net. The
fluctuations in the value of these forward contsaetcorded in other expense, net, partially offseet income, the gains and losses from the
remeasurement or settlement of the foreign currelecypminated accounts receivable, intercompanyljdeyaand cash held by the U.S.
operating company recorded in foreign currencysaation (loss) gain.

We are primarily exposed to the fluctuation in Bréish pound, Euro, Australian dollar, and Indiapee relative to the U.S. dollar.
See Note 4 “Derivative Instruments” in the Note€tnsolidated Financial Statements included in I8eofi this Annual Report on Form 10-
for discussion on our use of forward contracts.

We are in the process of reassessing our hedgisiggy and have not entered into any forward cotgrsince February 2014.

The total change in the fair value of our foreigmrency forward contracts recorded in other expemst during 2014, 2013, and
2012 was a loss of $0.5 million, $0.7 million, M7 million, respectively.

Provision for income taxe:
2014 Compared to 2013

The provision for income taxes represents curradtfature amounts owed for federal, state, anddartaxes. During 2014 and
2013, we recorded a $14.7 million and an $18.4ionilprovision, respectively, which resulted in dfeetive tax rate of 30.7% and 32.5%,
respectively.

Our effective income tax rate for 2014 was belowgtatutory rate primarily due to a $2.4 milliombét related to the current period
domestic production activities deduction, a $1.8iom benefit related to income generated in fongigrisdictions that is subject to tax at a
rate lower than the U.S. statutory tax rate, af@.8 million benefit related to the 2014 federale@rch and experimentation (“R&E”) credit
discussed below. These benefits were partiallyeptiy $1.8 million of permanent differences rela@dondeductible meals and
entertainment expenses and foreign stock compensati

Our effective income tax rate for 2013 was belowstatutory federal income tax rate due to a $alliombenefit related to the
current period domestic production activities deun; a $1.2 million benefit related to income gexted in foreign jurisdictions that is
subject to tax at a rate lower than the U.S. stayubix rate, and a $1.6 million benefit relatedhite 2012 and 2013 R&E credit discussed
below. These benefits were partially offset by $tidion of permanent differences related to nondgithle meals and entertainment
expenses, foreign stock compensation, and trasactists.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the “Actilas signed into law by President Obama on Jar2ig2913. Among other
things, the Act retroactively extended the R&E dréttough the end of 2013. Under ASC 7#8;ome Taxesthe effects of new legislation
are recognized upon enactment, such that botretheactive tax effects for the 2012 R&E credit dmel tax effects for the 2013 R&E were
recognized in the 2013 financial statements. lhad recognized the effects of the 2012 R&E credihe 2012 financial statements, the
effective tax rate in 2012 would have been lowdrgdpproximately 2.6%. On December 19, 2014, Pessi®bama signed the Tax Increase
Prevention Act of 2014, which included an extensibthe R&E credit through the end of 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $48lHon of total unrecognized tax benefits, of whi$23.4 million would
decrease our effective tax rate if recognized. fElmeaining $20 million of unrecognized tax benefékate to acquired net operating losses
(“NOLs") and R&E credits that are subject to lintitans on their use. We expect that the changdseiuhrecognized benefits within the next
twelve months will be approximately $0.5 milliodl, @ which relate to the expiration of applicalsiatute of limitations and would reduce
effective tax rate if realized.
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2013 Compared to 2012

During 2013 and 2012, we recorded an $18.4 millind a $9.1 million provision, respectively, whigsulted in an effective tax rate
of 32.5% and 29.3%, respectively

Our effective income tax rate for 2012 was below gtatutory federal income tax rate due to a $illlbbmbenefit related to the
domestic production activities deduction and a $illon benefit related to income generated irefgn jurisdictions that is subject to tax ¢
rate lower than the U.S. statutory rate. Thesefiisiveere partially offset by $1 million of permamtedifferences related to nondeductible
meals and entertainment expenses and nondeductiblgn stock compensation.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $#0lifon of total unrecognized tax benefits, of whi$25.2 million would
decrease our effective tax rate if recognized. fEneaining $15.7 million of unrecognized tax bergefélate to acquired NOLs and R&E
credits that are subject to limitations on theie.us

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(in thousands Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
Cash provided by (used ir
Operating activitie! $ 99,88 $ 80,700 $ 43,57¢
Investing activities (37,657 (63,99 (19,239
Financing activitie: (24,03)) (14,567 (8,09))
Effect of exchange rate on ce (3,84¢) 567 927
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 3435 $ 2,706 $ 17,17.
As of December 31
2014 2013 2012
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sies $ 21122 $ 156,69 $ 122,98

The increase in cash and cash equivalents ovéntbe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, andv2@4 Ariven by the increases
in cash provided by operating activities, the priynsource of our liquidity. We use this sourceiqfildity to fund our capital expenditures ¢
acquisitions, investments, dividend payments, dmadesrepurchase program. We believe that our cucest, cash equivalents, and cash flow
from operations will be sufficient to fund our opttons and our share repurchase program for dttleasiext 12 months. There can be no
assurance that changes in our plans or other ea#fatding our operations will not result in matdif accelerated or unexpected cash
requirements.

We evaluate acquisition opportunities from timeinee, which if pursued, could require use of ourds. In October, 2013, we
acquired Antenna for $27.1 million in cash, inclgsof cash acquired, and in the first quarter df£@ve paid $0.8 million of the remaining
merger consideration related to the final workiagital adjustment.

During 2014, we completed three acquisitions faB$8illion in cash, inclusive of $2.1 million in slaacquired, and $1.1 million in
additional cash consideration to be paid by us0it52 In addition, up to $1.5 million in additioredsh consideration may be payable to the
selling shareholders of one of the three acquicedpanies based on the achievement of certain peafoze milestones through the end of
2016.

During 2014 and 2013, we incurred $0.5 million &id3 million of direct and incremental expense®eisded with these
transactions, which were primarily professionakfee

As of December 31, 2014, approximately $46.8 millad our cash and cash equivalents was held ifioveign subsidiaries. If it
became necessary to repatriate these funds, wéenaquired to pay U.S. tax, net of
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any applicable foreign tax credits, upon repawiatiVe consider the earnings of our foreign subsiels to be permanently reinvested and, as
a result, U.S. taxes on such earnings are notgbeadvilt is impractical to estimate the amount dé Uax we could have to pay upon
repatriation due to the complexity of the foreigr tredit calculations and because we consideeaunings permanently reinvested.

Cash provided by operating activities

The primary drivers during 2014 were net incom&28.3 million, a $13.4 million increase in accoupéyable and accrued expenses
primarily due to the timing of income tax paymerasd an $11.2 million increase in deferred reveprumarily resulting from the difference
in timing of billings and revenue recognition forraual maintenance.

The primary drivers during 2013 were net incom&38 million and the $18.2 million in net inflowsofn operating asset and liabil
changes primarily due to the timing of paymentscientain accrued expenses and additional tax iligsilassociated with Antenna.

The primary driver during 2012 was net income aof $2million.

Future Cash Receipts from License Arrangements

Total contractual future cash receipts due fromenusting license agreements was approximately #3@dllion as of December 31,
2014, $283.1 million as of December 31, 2013, a2@8b% million as of December 31, 2012. The appratériming of future cash receipts
due as of December 31, 2014 are summarized asvillo

Other contractual

Contractual license payments nc
payments for term
licenses not recorded on recorded on the
As of December 31(in thousands the balance sheet (1) balance sheet (2) Total
2015 $ 89,26: $ 19,01° $108,27¢
2016 83,16¢ 12,29( 95,45¢
2017 47,18¢ — 47,18¢
2018 25,07( — 25,07(
2019 25,41¢ — 25,41¢
Total $ 270,10: $ 31,30: $301,40¢

(1) These amounts include contractual future cashipts related to our on-premises term licensdshasted Pega Cloud service offerings.
The amounts related to our on-premises term licendlébe recognized as term license revenue irfuh@e over the term of the
agreement as payments become due or earlier i&jokelputure revenue associated with our Pega Glowwthgements will be recognized
ratably as Cloud revenue within services revenwer the term of the agreement. The timing of futeneenue recognition and future
cash receipts may not coincic

(2) These amounts include contractual future cashipts related to perpetual licenses with extepdgthent terms and/or additional rights
of use.

Cash used in investing activities

During 2014, cash used in investing activities wamsharily for purchases of marketable debt se@sifor $55.5 million, partially
offset by the proceeds received from the maturdies called marketable debt securities of $33.8anilWe paid $3.9 million for acquisitio
in 2014, net of cash acquired. We also investedS$tilllion primarily in leasehold improvements azmmputer equipment for the buitdst of
our new office in India.
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During 2013, cash used in investing activities wamharily for purchases of marketable debt seasifor $60.6 million, partially
offset by the proceeds received from the maturdies called marketable debt securities of $27.8anilWe paid $25.6 million to acquire
Antenna, net of cash acquired and a preliminankimgrcapital adjustment. We also invested $5.6iomlprimarily in leasehold
improvements and computer equipment for the buiitded our U.S. and India offices.

During 2012, we invested $23.6 million primarilyleasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures egdipment for the buildut of
our U.S. and India offices.

Cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities during 2013, and 2012, was primarily for repurchases ofcommon stock and the
payment of our quarterly dividend. Since 2004, Baard of Directors has approved annual stock rdyase programs that have authorizec
repurchase of up to $119 million of our common ktds of December 31, 2014, approximately $99.3iomilhad been repurchased, $13.3
million remained available for repurchase and $6ikion had expired. Purchases under these progtems been made on the open market.

Common stock repurchases

The following table is a summary of our repurchastvity under all of our stock repurchase programs

Year ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands 2014 2013 2012

Shares (1 Amount Shares (1 Amount Shares (1 Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 14,43 $ 14,79: $ 13,96
Authorizations 14,41( 12,16¢ 6,03¢
Repurchases pa 756,14: (15,269 773,25¢ (212,370 363,60t (5,130
Repurchases unsettl 13,98: (295 6,28 (159 6,79¢ (76)
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 13,28 $ 14,43 $ 14,79

(1) On March 6, 2014, our Board of Directors apgaa two-for-one stock split of our common stockhia form of a stock dividend. See
Item 5 “Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Rel& Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases atye§ecurities” of this Annual
Report on Form 1-K for further discussion of the Stock Sp

In addition to the share repurchases made undeepurchase programs, we net settled the majofribpoemployee stock options
exercised and RSUs vested. During 2014 and 201®moand RSU holders net settled stock options\astied RSUs representing the right to
purchase a total of 1,193,000 shares and 861,G0@strespectively, of which only 641,000 shares482,000 shares, respectively, were
issued to the option and RSU holders and the balahthe shares were surrendered to us to pajpéoexercise price with respect to stock
options and the applicable taxes for both optiomsRSUs. During 2014 and 2013, instead of receieagh from the equity holders, we
withheld shares with a value of $6.1 million and4million, respectively, for withholding taxes,dafi6.4 million and $9 million, respective
for the exercise price.

Dividends

On May 27, 2014, we announced an increase in cantuly cash dividend from $0.015 to $0.03 per sh@fe declared quarterly
dividends totaling $0.105 per share, $0.06 peresteard $0.06 per share for the years ended Dece3tib2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
Our Board of Directors authorized the acceleratibthe payment of the dividend declared in the floguarter 2012, otherwise payable in
January 2013, to December 2012. Therefore, thesenwalividend payment in the first quarter of 2088 the years
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ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, we psiddiaidends of $6.9 million, $3.4 million, and $3nillion, respectively. It is our
current intention to pay a quarterly cash divideh$0.03 per share, however, the Board of Direataaly terminate or modify this dividend
program at any time without notice.

Contractual obligations

As of December 31, 2014, we had purchase obligafioncustomer support and marketing programs agdpnts under operating
leases. Our lease arrangement for our new offieddngarters expires in 2023, subject to our opticextend for two additional five-year
periods. We also lease space for our other officeter noncancellable operating leases that expiwrarmus dates through 2021.

Payments due by perioc

2016 & 2018 & 2020 &
(in thousands Total 2015 2017 2019 Thereafter Other
Purchase obligations (1) $ 2,12: $ 2,12t $ — $ — 3 — 3 —
Liability for uncertain tax
positions (2] 22,921 — — — — 22,92:
Operating lease obligations ( 100,00! 12,64" 26,515 24,46¢ 36,37¢ —
Total $ 12504 $ 1476 $ 2651 $ 2446 $ 3637 $ 2292

(1) Represents the fixed or minimum amounts due undexhgse obligations for customer support and miadcgtrograms

(2) As of December 31, 2014, our recorded liabfitly uncertain tax positions was approximately $28illion. We are unable to
reasonably estimate the timing of the cash outfiow to uncertainties in the timing of the effectbattlement of tax position

(3) Includes deferred rent of approximately $1.4iam included in accrued expenses and approximét#0 million in other long-term
liabilities in the accompanying audited consoliddb@alance sheet as of December 31, 2

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGM  ENTS

Management’s discussion and analysis of the firgmcindition and results of operations is basedupo consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted mthS. and the rules and regulations of
the SEC for annual financial reporting. The prepiansof these financial statements requires usakerestimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, reesrand expenses, and related disclosure of contiagsets and liabilities. We base our
estimates and judgments on historical experienoewledge of current conditions and beliefs of wdw@ild occur in the future given availal
information.

We believe that, of our significant accounting p&s, which are described in Note 2, “SignificamicAunting Policies,” in the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements includedeémI8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the foliogzaccounting policies are most
important to the portrayal of our financial conditiand require the most subjective judgment. Adoofy, these are the policies we believe
are the most critical to aid in fully understandamg evaluating our consolidated financial conditamd results of operations. If actual results
differ significantly from management’s estimates g@mojections, there could be a material effecbonfinancial statements.

Revenue recognitiol

Our revenue is derived primarily from software tises, maintenance fees related to our softwaneskse and consulting services.
Our license arrangements, whether involving a pgagbéicense or a term license, generally contaittiple elements, including consulting
services, training, and software maintenance sesvic
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Software revenue recognition requires judgmentuiting whether a software arrangement includesipielelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO&f'fair value exists for those elements. The anofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@/ of fair value for those elements and recognazethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlscated to the software license, the first deldgeelement. Revenue is recognized for each
element when all of the revenue recognition citéxdve been met.

Changes in the mix of the elements in a softwar@ngement, the ability to identify VSOE for thodengents, the fair value of the
respective elements, and changes to a producitsagst life cycle could materially impact the ambafhearned and unearned revenue.

Before we can recognize revenue, the following tmasic criteria must be met:

« Persuasive evidence of an arrangemesfis evidence of the existence of an arrangementjsgea contract or purchase order signed
by the client for software and maintenance anéestent of work for consulting services. In thergbe client is a reseller, we ensure
a binding agreement exists between the reselleeaddiser of the software.

« Delivery of product and servicesSoftware is delivered electronically or shipped dlisk media. Services are considered delivered as
the work is performed or, in the case of mainteraonger the contractual service period.

* Fee is fixed or determinable-We assess whether a fee is fixed or determinalifeeaonset of the arrangement. In addition, wesss
whether contract modifications to an existing ageanent constitute a concession. Our agreementetdoaiude a right of return.

« Collection of fee is probable-We assess the probability of collecting from ealddnt at the onset of the arrangement based on a
number of factors, including the client’'s paymeistdry, its current creditworthiness, economic atads in the client’s industry and
geographic location, and general economic condititinin our judgment, collection of a fee is pobbable, revenue is recognized as
cash is collected, provided all other conditionsrvenue recognition have been met.

Software license revenue

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeeva@nue when the software is delivered, any acceptayuired by contract that is
not perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligat or contingencies exist related to the softyatieer than maintenance, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are payable on a marghlyrterly, or annual basis under license agreentkat typically have a three to
five-year term and may be renewed for additionahteat the client’s option.

As a result of our focus on frequent sales to atgeted clients, our strategy to sell initial tdivensing agreements to those clients
with the goal to generate follow-on sales, and essalt of extended payment terms and other facsoich as the risk of concessions, we
recognize term license revenue over the term o&titeement as payments become due or earlieméigheprovided all other criteria for
revenue recognition have been met.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemsajntenance, and bundled services revenue recjniz our license arrangeme
that include a right to unspecified future produethich is recognized ratably over the term ofshbscription period.

Maintenance revenue

First-year maintenance typically is sold with teéated software license and renewed on an annaa theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are based
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separately stated renewal rates in the arrangetmandre substantive and therefore represent VS@d&rwvalue. Term license arrangements
include separately stated maintenance fees andseveaparate sales to determine VSOE of fair value.

Services revenue

Our services revenue is comprised of fees for dtinguservices, including software implementatitajning, reimbursable expenses
and sales of our Pega Clo&id as-a-platform offefiRgga Cloud® ”). Consulting services may be proside a “stand-alone” basis or
bundled with a license and software maintenanogces.

Revenue from training services and consulting ses/under time and materials contracts is recogdrageservices are performed.
have VSOE of fair value for our training servicesl @onsulting services under time and material$raots in North America, Australia, and
Europe.

Consulting services may occasionally be providea @ired-price basis. We do not have VSOE of failue for fixed-price services
or time and materials services in certain geoghegions. When these services are part of apteitlement arrangement, and the serv
are not essential to the functionality of the saft®y and when services, including maintenancetharenly undelivered element, we recogr
the revenue from the total arrangement ratably thestonger of the software maintenance periodherservice period. Revenue from fixed-
price services that are not bundled with a softliaense is generally recognized ratably over #rgise period, which is typically less than
four months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud d@gnézed ratably over the term of the service. Wingolementation services are
sold together with our Pega Clofid offering and ¢he=yvices have stand-alone value to the cliengageunt for these services separately
from our Pega Clou@l offering as described earBtaind-alone value is established through the ieiility to buy these services from
many trained partner system integrators and framstictions sold independently from the sale of B#¥gad® . Since these multiple-element
arrangements are not software license sales, wg aggelling price hierarchy. Under the sellingcprhierarchy, thirgsarty evidence of sellir
price (“TPE”") will be considered if VSOE does nadst, and estimated selling price (“ESP”) will bgedl if neither VSOE nor TPE is
available. Generally, we are not able to deterrmliRE as our sales strategy is customized to thesnefealir clients and our products or
services are dissimilar to comparable productenorices in the marketplace. In determining ESPapgy significant judgment as we weigh
a variety of factors, based on the facts and cistances of the arrangement. We typically arrivenaESP for a service that is not sold
separately by considering compasyecific factors such as geographies, competitimddcape, and pricing practices used to estahlistiieéd
pricing and discounting.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resiutim client billings for which all of the criterig recognize revenue have not been
met. Deferred maintenance revenue represents seftisanse updates and product support contraatsatie typically billed in advance and
are recognized ratably over the support periodferded services revenue represents advanced Bilforgconsulting, hosting, and training
services that are recognized as the services d@ped. The amount of revenue to defer and sulisgtyurecognize involves judgments
based on revenue recognition rules discussed above.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

Our goodwill and intangibles assets result fromlmusiness acquisitions. Goodwill and intangibleetswith indefinite useful lives
are not amortized, but are tested for impairmefdaxtt annually or as circumstances indicate traire may no longer be recoverable. We do
not carry any intangible assets with indefinitefuskves other than goodwill. We perform our anhgaodwill impairment as of
November 30th of each fiscal ye
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To assess if goodwill is impaired, we first perfoamualitative assessment to determine whethdrdummpairment testing is necessary. If, as
a result of the qualitative assessment, we congidaore-likely-than-not that the fair value of aw@porting unit is less than its carrying
amount, we perform a quantitative impairment test two-step process. For the first step, we sd@empairment, and if any possible
impairment exists, we undertake a second step asurgng such impairment by performing discounteshdow analysis. This analysis is
based on cash flow assumptions that are consisitinthe plans and estimates being used to managkeusiness. In the first step, we review
the carrying amount of our reporting unit compatieethe “fair value” of the reporting unit. An exaesarrying value to fair value would
indicate that goodwill may be impaired. If we detared that goodwill may be impaired, then we woeddhpare the “implied fair value” to
the carrying value of the goodwill. We periodical@revaluate our business and have determinedvihative one operating segment and one
reporting unit after completing the integrationfaftenna’s operations. If our assumptions changherfuture, we may be required to record
impairment charges to reduce the carrying valueuofgoodwill. Changes in the valuation of goodwduld materially impact our operating
results and financial position. We evaluate ouarigible assets for impairment whenever events angés in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoleerabevaluating potential impairment of thesestsswe specifically consider whether
indicators of impairment are present, including, ot limited to:

. whether there has been a significant adverse chartge business climate that affects the valuanodsset
. whether there has been a significant change iextent or manner in which an asset is used;
. whether there is an expectation that the assebwifiold or disposed of before the end of its pally estimated useful life

If indicators of impairment are present, we comgheeestimated undiscounted cash flows that theifspasset is expected to
generate to its carrying value. The key assumptidrise cash flow model involve significant subjeity. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is maabby the amount by which the carrying amount efdhset exceeds its fair value.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $46.9 million adgwill and $45.7 million of acquired intangible aets If our estimates or the
related assumptions change in the future, we magdpgred to record impairment charges to reduee#nrying value of these assets.
Changes in the valuation of long-lived assets coudderially impact our operating results and finahposition. To date, there have been no
impairments of goodwill or intangibles assets.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

We use the asset and liability method of accourftingncome taxes. Under this method, deferredatssets and liabilities are
determined based on temporary differences betweefirtancial statement and tax basis of assetdiaitities using enacted tax rates in
effect for the year in which the differences arpeoted to reverse.

We regularly assess the need for a valuation aleeagainst our deferred tax assets. Future réalizaf our deferred tax assets
ultimately depends on the existence of sufficiamaible income within the available carryback oryfarward periods. Sources of taxable
income include taxable income in prior carrybachrge future reversals of existing taxable tempodfifigrences, tax planning strategies, and
future taxable income. We record a valuation allogeato reduce our deferred tax assets to an ammmubtlieve is more likely than not to be
realized. Changes in our valuation allowance impamime tax expense in the period of adjustment.deferred tax valuation allowance
requires significant judgment and uncertaintiesluding assumptions about future taxable incomearabased on historical and projected
information.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $Lirfllion of acquired Chordiant federal NOLs that aubject to annual use
limitations under section 382 of the Internal Rayveode. Based on those limitations we anticipaitegu$90 million of the remaining NOLs
by 2029. In addition, we had $0.7 million of deéefrtax assets related to state NOLs as of Dece®ih&014.
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We acquired approximately $39.6 million and $58illiom of federal and foreign NOLSs, respectively,the Antenna transaction. v
anticipate that we may utilize $7.5 million of thequired Antenna federal NOLs under the applicabtion 382 limitation, and these losses
are scheduled to expire in 2031. A valuation alloeeais recorded on the deferred tax assets in exdd¢he federal NOLs that are deemed
recoverable under the preliminary limitation. Whggard to the acquired foreign NOLs, a full valaatallowance has been recorded as of
December 31, 2014 due to uncertainty regardingtadability of these NOLs to offset future incomenerated by the related foreign
businesses due to limitations under local courtignge in control provisions. As of December 31,£2Qhe Company had approximately
$39.3 million of acquired Antenna federal NOLs, elhare subject to annual use limitations undeice&82. Based on those limitations, the
Company anticipates using $7.1 million of the ramreg NOLs by 2031.

We assess our income tax positions and recordaagfits based upon management’s evaluation ofitts,fcircumstances, and
information available at the reporting date. Farséatax positions where it is more-likely-than-tiatt a tax benefit will be sustained, we
record the largest amount of tax benefit with atgethan 50 percent likelihood of being realizpdruultimate settlement with a taxing
authority having full knowledge of all relevant @mimation. For those income tax positions wherg fiat more-likely-than-not that a tax
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is redagd in the financial statements. We classify litibs for uncertain tax positions as non-
current liabilities unless the uncertainty is expddo be resolved within one year. We classifgnest and penalties on uncertain tax positions
as income tax expense.

As a global company, we use significant judgmertdaiculate and provide for income taxes in eactheftax jurisdictions in which
we operate. In the ordinary course of our businbese are transactions and calculations undertak@se ultimate tax outcome cannot be
certain. Some of these uncertainties arise as seqoience of transfer pricing for transactions with subsidiaries and nexus and tax credit
estimates. In addition, the calculation of acquiedattributes and the associated limitationscaraplex. We estimate our exposure to
unfavorable outcomes related to these uncertaiatidsestimate the probability of such outcomes.

Although we believe our estimates are reasonabl@ssurance can be given that the final tax outasitheot be different from what
is reflected in our historical income tax provisspreturns, and accruals. Such differences, orggsaim estimates relating to potential
differences, could have a material impact on oooine tax provision and operating results in théopgen which such a determination is
made.

See Note 16 “Income Taxes” in the Notes to Conatdid Financial Statements included in Item 8 of Anual Report on Form 10-
K for further information.
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

New Accounting Pronouncements are detailed in Rot&ignificant Accounting Policies,” in the Not&s Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual ReporForm 10-K.
ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that mdgaifus due to adverse changes in financial manke¢s and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily related to fluctuations imgign exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign currency exposure

Approximately 45% of our total revenue was derifiean sales to clients based outside of the U.$heérast three fiscal years. Our
international sales are usually denominated inidoreurrencies. However, the operating expensesioforeign operations are also primarily
denominated in foreign currencies, which partiafiset our foreign currency exposure. A decreagbeérvalue of foreign currencies,
particularly the British pound, Euro, Australianlldo, and Indian rupee relative to the U.S. doltauld adversely impact our revenues and
operating results.
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Our U.S. operating company invoices most of oueifgm clients in foreign currencies, so it holdsicasd receivables denominatet
these foreign currencies. Our U.S. operating coiyigdnnctional currency is the U.S. dollar. Themefowhen there are changes in the foreign
currency exchange rates versus the U.S. dollarea@gnize a foreign currency transaction gainasg) in our consolidated statements of
operations. In addition, we have intercompany aotothat are eliminated in consolidation, but #rgiose us to foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuation, which are recorded as foreigmemnry transaction gains or (losses) in our conateéid statements of operations.

We have historically used forward contracts to nganaur exposure to changes in foreign currencyangh rates affecting foreign
currency denominated accounts receivable, interemypayables, and cash primarily held by our Ugerating company. We are in the
process of reassessing our hedging strategy arelrt@\entered into any forward contracts since taatyr2014. As of December 31, 2014
2013, we did not have any forward contracts outhtan

These forward contracts were not designated asitpdtstruments and as a result, we record th@ivédue at the end of each
reporting period in our consolidated balance sheetther current assets for unrealized gains acrded expenses for unrealized losses, with
any fluctuations in the value of these contract®gaized in other income, net, in our consolidatadements of operations. Generally, we
enter into contracts with terms of 90 days or less.

The fluctuations in the value of these forward cacts partially offset the gains and losses froemrdmeasurement or settlement of
the foreign currency denominated accounts recegdvatiercompany payables, and cash held by thedp&ating company recorded in
foreign currency transaction (loss) gain, thusiphiytmitigating the volatility.

We entered into forward contracts with notionalues as follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

Foreign currency (in thousands 2014 2013 2012

Euro € 21,90 € 102,30( € 49,70(
British pound £ 26,50C £ 85,400 £  52,00(
Australian dollau A$ 12,90 A$ 26,30C A% —
Indian rupee Rs 204,000 Rs 690,000 Re —

The total change in the fair value of our forwaeothizacts recorded in other expense, net, was svil

Change in Fair Value in USD
Twelve Months Ended
December 31

(in thousands 2014 2013 2012
Loss included in other expense, net $(532) $(747)  $(1,73%)

The impact on net income of the gains and lossemded on the foreign currency forward contractsictvis included in other
expense, net, in the accompanying consolidatedrstatits of operations, and the foreign currencystration gains and losses recorded on the
remeasurement and settlement of the foreign cuyrdanominated assets, which is included in foreigmency transaction (loss) gain in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatioas a net loss of approximately $4.3 million, $&llion and $1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respsactivel

Interest rate exposure

As of December 31, 2014, we had $96.6 million ofkatable debt securities, which consisted primanflgorporate and municipal
bonds, with a weighted-average remaining matufity3omonths. Due to the overall short-term remajnimaturities of our marketable debt
securities, our interest rate exposure is not 8aggmit. As of December 31, 2014, a 200 basis patrease in market interest rates would have
reduced the fair value of our fixed rate marketal@bt securities by approximately $2.1 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Pggtasns Inc.
Cambridge, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiarie$Qtmpany”) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensive a¢wss), stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the plezinded December 31, 2014. We also have auditeddhmany’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, basedriteria established internal Control—Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission. The Company’s management is redplerfsir these financial
statements, for maintaining effective internal cohbver financial reporting, and for its assesstwérithe effectiveness of internal control o
financial reporting, included in the accompanyingidgement’s Report on Internal Control over FirariReporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statememt@aropinion on the Comparsyinternal control over financial reporting basedooir audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all exal respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideace supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, and evaluating the ovemaldial statement presentation. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportingluded obtaining an understanding of internaltaarover financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testiggeaaluating the design and operating effectivenéiternal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such ofhrecedures as we considered necessary in thentstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidij the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide realpasturance regarding the reliability of financ@dorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princigdesompany’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiohthe assets of the company; (2) provide redsersssurance that transactions are recordec
as necessary to permit preparation of financiaéstants in accordance with generally accepted aticauprinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltconover financial reporting, including the posti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Pegasystems Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decemb&034 and 2013, and the results of their operatsord their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20 dnformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, the Company main&inin all material respects, effective internaitcol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the criteria establishHaternal Control—Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 26, 2015
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

As of December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 114,58! $ 80,23
Marketable securitie 96,63 76,46
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable $ies 211,21¢ 156,69.
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance of#Ld&nd $1,99 154,84 165,64:
Deferred income taxe 12,97 12,33¢
Income taxes receivab 4,50z 4,392
Other current asse 9,54 9,14¢
Total current asse 393,08l 348,20¢
Property and equipment, r 30,15¢ 28,95'
Long-term deferred income tax 69,25¢ 56,74
Long-term other asse 2,78: 2,52¢
Intangible assets, n 45,66¢ 56,57
Goodwill 46,86( 43,46
Total asset $ 587,80: $ 536,48(
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 4,752 $ 3,671
Accrued expense 42,95¢ 31,62«
Accrued compensation and related expe 47,25( 44,40:
Deferred revenu 134,67. 110,69(
Total current liabilities 229,63. 190,38t
Income taxes payab 24,89¢ 21,26¢
Long-term deferred revent 20,85¢ 34,19¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 17,70¢ 18,84
Total liabilities 293,09¢ 264,69.
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity (1):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 share®dnéd; no shares issued and outstan — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 200,000 shares @d®0Q0 shares authorized; 76,357 shares an
76,324 shares issued and outstan 764 764
Additional paic-in capital 141,49! 139,56!
Retained earninc 153,05¢ 127,82t
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) inco
Net unrealized (loss) gain on availe-for-sale marketable securiti (65) 77
Foreign currency translation adjustme (547) 3,55¢
Total stockholder equity 294,70! 271,78t
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 587,80 $ 536,48

(1) The number of common shares outstanding fqurédk periods has been retroactively restate@fiect the Company’s two-for-one
common stock split effected in the form of a commnstack dividend distributed on April 1, 201

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Software licensi
Maintenance
Services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Software licensi
Maintenance
Services
Total cost of revenu
Gross profit
Operating expense
Selling and marketin
Research and developmt
General and administratiy
Acquisitior-related
Restructuring

Total operating expens

Income from operation

Foreign currency transaction (loss) g

Interest income, ne
Other expense, n

Income before provision for income tay

Provision for income taxe
Net income

Earnings per share (1
Basic

Diluted

PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Weightec-average number of common shares outstar

Basic
Diluted

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$232,33¢  $191,87¢  $163,90
186,23¢  157,30¢ 133,52
171,42¢  159,76¢ 164,27
590,000 508,95  461,71(
4,95¢ 6,281 6,33¢
20,01 15,27: 14,78"
160,12: 135,85 136,25
185,09 157,40 157,38
404,91 351,54t  304,33(
206,65¢  181,09¢ 167,26
108,59: 79,72t 76,72t
37,44: 29,50 28,91
48¢ 1,30¢ —
192 1,731 —
353,370  293,45. 272,90
51,53¢ 58,09 31,42¢
(3,769 (1,599 78C
682 524 41¢
(456 (63F) (1,680)
47,99 56,39: 30,94
14,73¢ 18,35( 9,077
$ 33,25 $ 38,04 $ 21,86¢
$ 04 $ 050 $ 0.2¢
$ 04z $ 045 $  0.2¢
76,32 75,94¢ 75,70¢
78,53 77,97 77,71

(1) The number of common shares and per share @ambane been retroactively restated for all prigniquls presented to reflect the
Compan’s twc-for-one common stock split effected in the form of enown stock dividend distributed on April 1, 20.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 33,25¢ $ 38,04 $ 21,86¢
Other comprehensive (loss) incor
Unrealized (loss) gain on securities, net of (142 (12) 31
Foreign currency translation adjustme (4,109 46¢ 1,49¢
Total other comprehensive (loss) inco (4,24%) 45¢ 1,52¢
Comprehensive incon $ 29,01 $ 38,50 $ 23,39

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensive Total
Paid-In Retained Stockholders’
Common Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Equity
Number
of Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2012 75,42 $ 754 $ 129,32: $ 77,02¢ $ 1,64¢ $ 208,75!
Repurchase of common stc (370 (4) (5,207 — (5,206
Exercise of common stock warral 5 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 762 8 (3,879 — — (3,865
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock

Purchase Pla 44 — 603 — — 603
Issuance of stock awar 25 — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 11,50¢ — — 11,50¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies

of $284 — — 5,83¢ — — 5,83¢
Cash dividends declared ($0.06 per sh — — — (4,54%) — (4,54¢)
Other comprehensive incor 1,52¢ 1,52¢
Net income — — — 21,86¢ — 21,86¢
Balance at December 31, 20 75,89C $ 75¢ % 138,190 $ 94,34¢ $ 3,17t $ 236,47
Repurchase of common sta (780) (8) (12,516 — — (12,52¢)
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 1,14¢ 14 (5,699 — — (5,680
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock

Purchase Pla 38 — 54t — — 54t
Issuance of stock awar 27 — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 12,86¢ — — 12,86¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies

of $435 — — 6,16¢ — — 6,16¢
Cash dividends declared ($0.06 per sh — — — (4,56¢€) — (4,56€)
Other comprehensive incor 45¢ 45¢
Net income — — — 38,04 — 38,04
Balance at December 31, 20 76,32¢ $ 764 $ 139,56! $ 127,82t $ 3,637 % 271,78t
Repurchase of common sta (770 (8 (15,55) — — (15,559
Issuance of common stock for share-based

compensation plar 742 8 (5,709 — — (5,695
Issuance of stock under Employee Stock

Purchase Pla 32 — 56€ — — 56¢
Issuance of stock awar 29 — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 19,20¢ — — 19,20¢
Tax benefit from exercise or vesting of equity

awards, net of deferred tax asset deficiencies

of $77 — — 3,411 — — 3,411
Cash dividends declared ($0.105 per sh — — — (8,027) — (8,027
Other comprehensive incor — — — (4,245 (4,245
Net income — — 33,25¢ 33,25!
Balance at December 31, 20 76,35 $ 76 $ 141,49 $ 153,05 $ (61) $ 294,70

(1)

The number and amount of common shares, additfmaidin capital, and per share amounts have been rétrecrestated for all pric

periods presented to reflect the Company’s twoesfe-common stock split effected in the form of enomon stock dividend distributed

on April 1, 2014

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustment to reconcile net income to cash providgaperating activities
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards
Deferred income taxe
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of investment
Stocl-based compensation expel
Foreign currency transaction loss (ge
Other nor-cash
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Trade accounts receivat
Income taxes receivable and other current a
Accounts payable and accrued expet
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term assets and liabilitie
Cash provided by operating activiti
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities and called marketablerges.
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acqt
Investment in property and equipmt
Cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Issuance of common stock for st-based compensation pla
Excess tax benefits from exercise or vesting oftggwards
Dividend payments to sharehold:
Common stock repurchases for tax withholdings &irsettlement of equity awar
Common stock repurchases under share repurchageprs
Cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equi

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents, end of

Supplemental disclosure
Income taxes pai

Non-cash investing and financing activi
Dividends payabl

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ 33,250 $38,04: $21,86¢
(3,387 (643  (6,03])
(13,896 (7,009 (6,164
23,35: 20,03t 18,56¢
1,91€ 1,77€ 1,41¢
19,20¢ 12,86¢ 11,50¢
3,76¢ 1,59: (780)
(747) 1,67C 3,357
6,20¢ (28,316 (33,669
2,77¢ 7,07¢ 6,57(
13,35¢ 5,79¢ (7,656)
11,17: 26,36: 24,78
2,90¢ 7,24¢ 9,807
99,88¢ 80,70: 43,57¢
(55,520 (60,649 (20,209
33,24« 27,81 24,57¢
(391§  (25,56%) —
(11,469 (5,599 (23,610
(37,65) (63,99) (19,239
1,001 2,21( 1,12¢
3,387 6,43¢ 6,031
(6,879  (3.42) (5,680
(6,12 (7,345  (4,39])
(15,410 (12,446 (5,179
(24,03) (14,56) _ (8,09)
(3,846) 567 927
34,35¢ 2,70¢ 17,17:
80,23 77,52 60,35:
$11458! $80,23: $77,52
$ 14,72, $11,100 $ 5,10¢
$ 229 $ 1148 $ @ —
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) Business

The Company develops, markets, licenses, and sigpgaitware to automate complex, changing busipessesses. The Company
provides implementation, consulting, training, teichl support and hosting services to facilitate tlse of its software.

(b) Management estimates and reporting

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
(“U.S.”) requires management to make estimategwaaginents that affect the reported amounts of ass@t liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effithancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the periods
presented. Actual results could differ from thostneates. Accounts with reported amounts basedgmifisant estimates and judgments
include revenue, deferred income taxes, incomestpagable, fair value of assets acquired and lisgsilassumed, intangible assets, goodwill,
deferred revenue, and stock-based compensation.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include Regess Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.idércompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(d) Stock split

On March 6, 2014, the Company’s Board of Direcapgproved a two-for-one stock split of the Compargommon stock, effected
the form of a stock dividend (the “Stock Split")n@pril 1, 2014, each stockholder of record atdluse of business on March 20, 2014 (the
“Record Date”) received as a dividend, one addiiamare of common stock, par value $.01, for eshelne of common stock held on the
Record Date. All shares and amounts of common semlikitional paid-in capital, and per share amoimtee Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements and in the acemryipg notes for all periods presented have bestatesl to reflect the Stock Split, except
for the number of authorized shares of common stock

(e) Retrospective application of purchase price adjustms

During 2014, the Company made adjustments to thehpse price allocation in connection with its asiion of Antenna Software,
Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Antenna”hése purchase price adjustments are reflectedspetrtvely as of December 31, 2013 in the
Company’s audited consolidated balance sheet. THeeggons did not have any impact on the Compapsewviously reported results of
operations or cash flows. See Note 8 “Acquisiticfos™further discussion of these adjustments.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is derived primarily fromtwafe licenses, maintenance fees related to thep@oy’s software licenses, a
consulting services. The Company’s license arraegesnwhether involving a perpetual license ormticense, generally contain multiple
elements, including consulting services, traingmgy software maintenance services.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Software revenue recognition requires judgmentuifing whether a software arrangement includesipielelements, and if so,
whether vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSO&ffair value exists for those elements. The anofiarrangement consideration
allocated to undelivered elements is based on 8@/ of fair value for those elements and recognazethose elements are delivered. Any
remaining portion of the total arrangement fedlscated to the software license, the first delateelement. Revenue is recognized for each
element when all of the revenue recognition citéxdve been met.

Changes in the mix of the elements in a softwar@ngement, the ability to identify VSOE for thosemsents, the fair value of the
respective elements, and changes to a producirsatst life cycle could materially impact the ambahearned and unearned revenue.

Before the Company can recognize revenue, theWoilp four basic criteria must be met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangen—As evidence of the existence of an arrangemenCtrepany uses a contract or purct
order signed by the client and the Company fovgm and maintenance, and a statement of workofegudting services. In the
event the client is a reseller, the Company ensaut@sding agreement exists between the reselbbead user of the softwat

. Delivery of product and servic—The Company delivers its software electronicalglips it via disk media. Services are
considered delivered as the work is performedmothé case of maintenance, over the contractuaicseperiod.

. Fee is fixed or determinab—The Company assesses whether a fee is fixed emdielable at the onset of the arrangement. In
addition, the Company assesses whether contradfioatihns to an existing arrangement constitut®acession. The Company’s
agreements do not include a right of rett

. Collection of fee is probable- The Company assesses the probability of colledtomg each client at the onset of the arrangetr
based on a number of factors, including the clgeptlyment history, its current creditworthinesgnenic conditions in the
client’s industry and geographic location, and geheconomic conditions. If, in the Compasyudgment, collection of a fee is |
probable, revenue is recognized as cash is calleptevided all other conditions for revenue redtgn have been me

Software license revenues

Perpetual software license fees are recognizeeva@nue when the software is delivered, any acceptayuired by contract that is
not perfunctory is obtained, no significant obligas or contingencies exist related to the softwatleer than maintenance, and all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Term software license fees are payable on a mgrghyrterly, or annual basis under license agretsnbat typically have a three to
five-year term and may be renewed for additionathteat the client’s option.

As a result of the Company’s focus on frequentsstiléts targeted clients, the Company’s stratedp isell initial term licensing
agreements to those clients with the goal to geadéotlow-on sales, and as a result of extendedngay terms and other factors, such as the
risk of concessions, the Company recognizes tereméie revenue over the term of the agreement asguay become due or earlier if prep
provided all other criteria for revenue recognitftave been met.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of licemasajntenance, and bundled services revenue reasjoiz the Company’s license
arrangements that include a right to unspecifie¢dréuproducts, which is recognized ratably overtéren of the subscription period.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Maintenance revenues

First-year maintenance typically is sold with tleéated software license and renewed on an annaa theereafter. Maintenance
revenue is deferred and recognized ratably ovetettme of the support period, which is generally gaar and subject to annual renewals.
Perpetual license maintenance obligations are basséparately stated renewal rates in the arramgetiat are substantive and therefore
represent VSOE of fair value. Term license arrangi@siinclude separately stated maintenance feethar@ompany uses separate sales to
determine VSOE of fair value.

Services revenues

The Company’s services revenue is comprised offfesonsulting services including software implenadion, training,
reimbursable expenses, and sales of its Pega Clastd-platform offering (“Pega Clo®d ). Consultisgrvices may be provided on a
“stand-alone” basis or bundled with a license aftivare maintenance services.

Revenue from training services and consulting ses/under time and materials contracts is recodrazeservices are performed.
The Company has VSOE of fair value for its traingggvices and consulting services under time artdnmés contracts in North America,
Australia, and Europe.

Consulting services may occasionally be providea @ired-price basis. The Company does not have &8fJair value for fixed-
price services or time and materials services itategeographical regions. When these servicepanteof a multiple element arrangement,
and the services are not essential to the funditgrad the software, and when services, includingintenance, are the only undelivered
element, the Company recognizes the revenue frertotal arrangement ratably over the longer ofsthfevare maintenance period or the
service period. Revenue from fixed-price servited aire not bundled with a software license is g@lyerecognized ratably over the service
period, which is typically less than four months.

Revenue from stand-alone sales of Pega Cloud dgnézed ratably over the term of the service. Wingplementation services are
sold together with the Company’s Pega Cléud offgend these services have stand-alone value widém, the Company accounts for
these services separately from its Pega Ctoud inffers described earlier. Stand-alone value ibksteed through the client’s ability to buy
these services from many trained partner systeagiiators and from transactions sold independenrdiy the sale of Pega Clo@d . Since
these multiple-element arrangements are not sadtliGense sales, the Company applies a selling fiierarchy. Under the selling price
hierarchy, third-party evidence of selling pric&PE”) will be considered if VSOE does not existdastimated selling price (“ESP”) will be
used if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. Gengyéiie Company is not able to determine TPE asalless strategy is customized to the n
of its clients and the Company’s products and sesvare dissimilar to comparable products or sesviic the marketplace. In determining
ESP, the Company applies significant judgment a®ighs a variety of factors, based on the factscrtumstances of the arrangement. The
Company typically arrives at an ESP for a senvied is not sold separately by considering compaegific factors such as geographies,
competitive landscape, and pricing practices usezstablish bundled pricing and discounting.

Deferred revenue

Deferred software license revenue typically resuttsn client billings for which all of the criterigo recognize revenue have not been
met. Deferred maintenance revenue represents seftisanse updates and product support contraatsatie typically billed in advance and
are recognized ratably over the support periodéeribed services revenue represents advanced Bilforgconsulting, hosting, and training
services that are recognized as the services di@ped.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The principal financial instruments held by the @amy consist of cash equivalents, marketable g&sraccounts receivable, and
accounts payable. The carrying value of theseunstnts approximates their fair value due to thearsmaturities. See Note 3 “Marketable
Securities” and Note 5 “Fair Value Measurements'ftwther discussion of financial instruments thed carried at fair value on a recurring
basis.

(c) Derivative instruments

The Company has historically used foreign currdiocyvard contracts to manage its exposures to clsimg®reign currency
exchange rates associated with its foreign currelecypyminated accounts receivable, intercompanyhpayaand cash. The foreign currency
forward contracts utilized by the Company are restighated as hedging instruments and as a rdsilGdmpany records the fair value of
these contracts at the end of each reporting paridd consolidated balance sheet as other cuassdts for unrealized gains and accrued
expenses for unrealized losses, with any fluctanatia the value of these contracts recognizedhirragxpense, net, in its consolidated
statement of operations. The fluctuations in tHee/af these foreign currency forward contractdiply offset the gains and losses from the
remeasurement or settlement of the foreign currelecypminated accounts receivable, intercompanyljdeyaand cash held by the U.S.
operating company, thus partly mitigating the \ititgt Generally, the Company enters into foreignrency forward contracts with terms of
90 days or less.

(d) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digpiat and amortization are computed using thégitdine method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which arsetlgears for equipment and five years for furniand fixtures. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the term of the leashe useful life of the asset. Repairs and maantee costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company capitalizes and amortizes certain tdoests associated with computer software developgairchased for internal
use. The Company amortizes capitalized softwarts ggnerally over three to five years commencinghendate the software is placed into
service. During 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Compashyolt capitalize any costs for computer softwazeedoped for internal use.

(e) Goodwiill

Gooduwill represents the residual purchase pricée paa business combination after all identifiededs and liabilities have been
recorded. Goodwill is not amortized. The Compangrafes as a single reporting unit. The Companyp®ed its qualitative assessment
November 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, and concludedstnot more likely than not that the fair valdié® reporting unit was less than th
carrying value.

(f) Intangible and long-lived assets

All of the Company’s intangible assets are amodiasing the straight-line method over their estedaiseful life. The Company
evaluates its long-lived tangible and intangiblsets for impairment whenever events or changesdarastances indicate that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. tmeat is assessed by comparing the undiscountédfloags expected to be generated by
the intangible asset to its carrying value. If innpeent exists, the Company calculates the impaitrbgrcomparing the carrying value of the
intangible asset to its fair value as determinedibgounted expected cash flows. The Company didenord any impairments in 2014, 20
or 2012.
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(g) Business combinations

The Company uses its best estimates and assumptiagsurately assign fair value to the tangible imangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. ThenBany’s estimates are inherently uncertain andestibp refinement. During the
measurement period, which may be up to one year fh@ acquisition date, the Company may recordshaaijents to the fair value of these
tangible and intangible assets acquired and lteslassumed, with the corresponding offset to gabdn addition, uncertain tax positions
and tax-related valuation allowances are initiakyablished in connection with a business comhinats of the acquisition date. The
Company continues to collect information and reeatds these estimates and assumptions quarterieemds any adjustments to the
Company’s preliminary estimates to goodwill prowddbat the Company is within the measurement petipdn the conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of thievalue of assets acquired or liabilities assumddchever comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to the Company’s consetidstatements of operations.

(h) Research and development and software costs

Research and development costs are expensed agdhdDapitalization of computer software develofaedesale begins upon the
establishment of technological feasibility, genlgrdemonstrated by a working model or an operatemsion of the computer software
product. Such costs have not been material toatatechnological feasibility is established withishort timeframe from the software’s
general availability and, as a result, no costewapitalized in 2014, 2013, or 2012.

(i) Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensatiemsg@ssociated with equity awards based on thesfaie of these awards at
the grant date. Stock-based compensation is repedjmiver the requisite service period, which isegalty the vesting period of the equity
award, and is adjusted each period for anticipiigditures. The Company recognizes stock-basedbensation using the accelerated
recognition method, which treats each vesting tiaras if it were an individual grant. See Note $#tk-based Compensaticiwt discussio
of the Company’s key assumptions included in deiténg the fair value of its equity awards at gredate.

()) Acquisition-related expenses

Acquisition+elated costs are expensed as incurred and indiuele and incremental costs associated with aridimg or complete
acquisition. During 2014 and 2013, the $0.5 millaord $1.3 million, respectively, of acquisitioglated costs were primarily professional f
associated with the Company’s acquisition of AnteBoftware, Inc. (“Antenna”).

(k) Restructuring expenses

Restructuring expenses are recorded when a pleswoticturing is in place and management has caeuhtid execution of the plan.
To the extent that a restructuring plan provideplegee benefits for services rendered in futurégoisrbeyond a minimum period, the costs
are recognized over the requisite service perio@0L4 and 2013, restructuring costs include fulesse payments and demising costs, net of
estimated sublease income, for the eliminatiorpate within one facility related to the integratmfmAntenna. See Note 12 “Accrued
Restructuring” for further detail.
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() Foreign currency translation

The translation of assets and liabilities for thaarty of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries isd@at period-end exchange rates,
while revenue and expense accounts are translated average exchange rates during the perioddddions occurred. The resulting
translation adjustments are reflected in accumdlateer comprehensive income. The Company’s Ingdlisigiary, as well as all foreign
Antenna subsidiaries, use the U.S. dollar as itstfanal currency, therefore, its monetary assedsliabilities are remeasured at current rates
and its non-monetary assets are recorded at luat@xchange rates. Realized and unrealized exehgaigs or losses from transactions and
remeasurement adjustments are reflected in fo@ig®ency transaction (loss) gain, in the accompangbnsolidated statements of
operations.

(m) Accounting for income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability meth@tobdunting for income taxes. Under this methodemletl tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on temporary differences leetthe financial statement and tax basis of assetdiabilities using enacted tax rates in
effect for the year in which the differences arpewted to reverse. The Company regularly assessesetd for a valuation allowance against
its deferred tax assets. Future realization ofQbmpany’s deferred tax assets ultimately dependh@pxistence of sufficient taxable income
within the available carryback or carryforward pels. Sources of taxable income include taxablenvecim prior carryback years, future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differentas planning strategies, and future taxable ineofine Company records a valuation
allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets tararuat it believes is more-likely-than-not to belized. Changes in the valuation allowance
impacts income tax expense in the period of adjestnThe Company’s deferred tax valuation allowamecgiires significant judgment and
uncertainties, including assumptions about futaxable income that are based on historical aneptegl information. The Company
recognizes excess tax benefits when they are eelliarough a reduction in income taxes payableguie with and without stock option
method.

The Company assesses its income tax positionsemodds tax benefits based upon management’s eialuatthe facts,
circumstances, and information available at themépy date. For those tax positions where it iserikely-than-not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, the Company records the largest amduax dbenefit with a greater than 50 percent liketid of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority having full knedge of all relevant information. For those incatawe positions where it is not more-likely-
than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained,arolienefit is recognized in the financial stateraefihe Company classifies liabilities for
uncertain tax positions as non-current liabilitiséess the uncertainty is expected to be resolntidnwone year. The Company classifies
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positienis@ome tax expense.

As a global company, the Company uses signifiazafginent to calculate and provide for income taresaich of the tax jurisdictions
in which it operates. In the ordinary course of @@mmpany’s business, there are transactions aodlatibns undertaken whose ultimate tax
outcome cannot be certain. Some of these unceesiatise as a consequence of transfer pricingdosactions with the Company’s
subsidiaries and nexus and tax credit estimatesddiition, the calculation of acquired tax attrémiand the associated limitations are com
See Note 16 “Income Taxes” for further informatidhe Company estimates its exposure to unfavoaltieomes related to these
uncertainties and estimates the probability of sudicomes.

(n) New accounting pronouncements

Revenue from Contracts with Customeist May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standard Bo@dFASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue fil@ontracts with Customers (Topic 606)". This ASUeamts the guidance for revenue
recognition to replace numerous, industry-specéguirements and converges areas under this tafhidhose of the International Financial
Reporting Standards.
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This ASU implements a five-step process for custornatract revenue recognition that focuses orsfearof control, as opposed to transfer
of risk and rewards. This ASU also requires enhadmtigclosures regarding the nature, amount, tiraimgjuncertainty of revenues and cash
flows from contracts with customers. Other majarvisions include ensuring the time value of morsegdnsidered in the transaction price,
and allowing estimates of variable consideratiohgaecognized before contingencies are resolvedriain circumstances. The amendments
in this ASU are effective for reporting periods megng after December 15, 2016, and early adopsorot permitted. Entities can transition

to the standard either retrospectively or as a tatine-effect adjustment as of the date of adoptidns ASU will be effective for the
Company January 1, 2017. Management is currensigsaing the impact the adoption of this ASU willdhan the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

(in thousands) December 31, 201
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Marketable securitie:

Municipal bonds $ 27,82 $ 52 $ (17 $ 27,85t
Corporate bond 65,48’ 5 (1449 65,34¢
Certificates of depos 3,42¢ 2 (2) 3,42¢
Marketable securitie $ 96,73t $ 58 $ (169 $ 96,63
(in thousands) December 31, 201
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Marketable securitiet
Municipal bonds $ 41,54t $ 75 $ (20 $ 41,60
Corporate bond 31,86¢ 52 (4) 31,91¢
Certificates of depos 2,94¢ 1 (4) 2,94t
Marketable securitie $ 76,36 $  12¢ $ (29 $ 76,46

The Company considers debt securities with maggritf three months or less from the purchase ddie tash equivalents. Interest
is recorded when earned. All of the Company’s itmesits are classified as available-for-sale andamnéed at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses recorded as a component of acatedwther comprehensive (loss) income, net ofaglencome taxes.

As of December 31, 2014, remaining maturities ofkkatable debt securities ranged from January 20 MNsaty 2017, with a
weighted-average remaining maturity of approximai&l months.

4. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company has historically used foreign currdiocyvard contracts (“forward contracts”) to manatgeeixposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates associated wifloriesgn currency denominated accounts receivalalgh) and intercompany payables. The
U.S. operating company invoices most of its foreifi@nts in foreign currencies, which results isttand receivables held at the end of the
reporting period denominated in these foreign cwies. Since the U.S. operating company’s functionaency is the U.S. dollar, the
Company recognizes a foreign currency transactam gr (loss) on the foreign currency denominatesh¢intercompany payables and
accounts receivable held by the U.S. operating emmjn its consolidated statements of operationsnithere are changes in the foreign
currency exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar.
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The Company has been primarily exposed to theuhitizin in the British pound, Euro, Australian dolland Indian rupee relative to the U.S.
dollar. The Company began to use forward contrtactsitigate its British pound and Euro exposurethansecond quarter of 2011 and for its
Australian dollar and Indian rupee exposures irthirel quarter of 2013.

The forward contracts utilized by the Company aredesignated as hedging instruments and as a,rf®lCompany records the f
value of these contracts at the end of each regppiriod in its consolidated balance sheet ag otireent assets for unrealized gains and
accrued expenses for unrealized losses, with aayufitions in the value of these contracts recaghia other expense, net, in its consolid:
statement of operations. However, the fluctuatiarthe value of these foreign currency forward cactls partially offset the gains and losses
from the remeasurement or settlement of the foreigrency denominated accounts receivable, intepemy payables, and cash held by the
U.S. operating company, thus partly mitigating tbéatility. Generally, the Company enters into igrecurrency forward contracts with ter
not greater than 90 days.

The Company is in the process of reassessing digihg strategy and has not entered into any forwardracts since February 2014.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company alithawe any forward contracts outstanding.

The Company entered into forward contracts withamatl values as follows:

Year Ended December 31

Foreign currency (in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Euro € 21,90C € 102,30( € 49,70(
British pound £ 26,500 £ 85,40C £ 52,00(
Australian dollax A$ 12,90 A$ 26,30( A$ —
Indian rupee Rs 204,000 Rs 690,000 Rs —

The total change in the fair value of the Compaifgisvard contracts recorded in other expense wees,as follows:

Change in Fair Value in USD
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Loss included in other expense, net $ (532 $ (747) $ (1,739

5.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an exit price, representing the arhthat would be received from the sale of an asspaid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantethas assumptions that market participants wouddiugricing an asset or liability. As a
basis for classifying the fair value measurememtbyee-tier fair value hierarchy, which classifiles fair value measurements based on the
inputs used in measuring fair value, was estaldigtsefollows: (Level 1) observable inputs suchwasted prices in active markets for ident
assets or liabilities; (Level 2) significant otherservable inputs that are observable either dyrectindirectly; and (Level 3) significant
unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which requires the Company to devigdopwn assumptions. This hierarchy
requires the Company to use observable market @bt available, and to minimize the use of unolade inputs when determining fair
value. On a recurring basis, the Company recosdnirketable securities at fair value.

The Company’s money market funds and investmeassifled within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchse valued using quoted
market prices in active markets for identical ass€he Company'’s investments classified within Lévef the fair value hierarchy are valued
based on a market approach using quoted prices,
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when available, or matrix pricing compiled by thpdrty pricing vendors, using observable marketiisguch as interest rates, yield curves,
and credit risk. If applicable, the Company wilktognize transfers into and out of levels within thie value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period in which the actual event or chaimcircumstance occurs. In the fourth quarte2@#f4, the Company transferred all
municipal and corporate bonds from Level 1 to L&/bhased on the Company’s periodic review of itécgand the fact that these securities
are not traded as frequently as Level 1 investmdihisre were no significant transfers of investradrgttween Level 1 and Level 2 during the
year ended December 31, 20

The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s cash eajents and marketable securities at fair valussifollows:

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Money market funds $ 2,29 $ 2,2¢ $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 27,85¢ $ — $ 27,85t
Corporate bond 65,34¢ — 65,34¢
Certificates of depos 3,42¢ — 3,42¢
Total marketable securitit $ 96,63 $ — $ 96,63
Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other
Markets for Observable
December 31 Identical Assets Inputs
(in thousands) 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Money market funds $ 2,23 $ 2,23 $ —
Marketable securitie:
Municipal bonds $ 41,60( $ 10,56¢ $ 31,03
Corporate bond 31,91¢ 31,91¢ —
Certificates of depos 2,94t — 2,94¢
Total marketable securitit $ 76,46 $ 42,48t $ 33,97¢

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurringi

Assets recorded at fair value on a nonrecurringsbasgch as property and equipment, and intangitdets are recognized at fair vi
when they are impaired. During 2014, 2013, and 2@ Company did not recognize any impairmentgassets measured at fair value on

a nonrecurring basis.
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6. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCE

Unbilled trade accounts receivable relate to ses/@arned under time and material arrangementsiaimdenance and license
arrangements that have not been invoiced.

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Trade accounts receivable $ 128,75 $ 129,02
Unbilled accounts receivab 27,62° 38,61¢
Total accounts receivab 156,38: 167,63t
Allowance for sales credit mem (1,540 (1,999

$ 154,84 $ 165,64

The Company records an allowance for estimatestipial sales credit memos when the related revénrecorded and reviews
this allowance periodically. The following refledte activity of the allowance for sales credit nosm

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,997 $ 96: $ 89t
Provision for credit memc 2,164 5,37¢ 1,77
Credit memos issue (2,62]) (4,340 (1,70%)
$ 154 § 199 § 96

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Leasehold improvements $ 27,67 $ 24,24;
Computer equipmet 15,29t 13,00«
Furniture and fixture 5,321 5,15(
Computer software purchas 3,75( 3,75(
Computer software developed for internal 721 721
Fixed assets in progre 91¢ 44¢
53,671 47,31¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (23,52) (18,359
Property and equipment, r $ 30,15 $ 28,95

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdrign&9.3 million, $8.2 million, and $7.5 milliofor the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

8. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions completed in 2014:

The Company completed three acquisitions during/éa ended December 31, 2014, which were detedimbe immaterial, both
individually and in the aggregate, for $6.3 millimncash consideration, inclusive of $2.1 millioncash acquired, and $1.1 million in
additional cash consideration to be paid in 2015,
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which is included in accrued expenses. In additignto $1.5 million in additional cash consideratinay be payable to the selling
shareholders of one of the three acquired compdmaissd on the achievement of certain performantestones through the end of 2016.

Acquisitions completed in 2013

Antenna

On October 9, 2013, the Company acquired Antenfegding provider of mobile application developmplattforms. The Company
acquired all of the outstanding capital stock otekma in a cash merger for $27.1 million, includihg final working capital adjustment to
purchase price, which was paid by the Companyarfitet quarter of 2014. During 2014 and 2013,@menpany incurred direct and
incremental expenses associated with the transacti$0.3 million and $1.3 million, respectivelyhigh were primarily professional fees.

The operations of Antenna are included in the Camijsaoperating results from the date of acquisitione B the rapid integration
the products, sales force, and operations of Ateother than the maintenance and hosting revetrilsugable to the recognition of the fair
value of acquired deferred maintenance and hostwmenue, it is no longer feasible for the Companigéntify revenue from new
arrangements solely attributable to Antenna.

In 2014, the Company made $6 million in purchaseepadjustments to goodwill primarily related te tiinal determination of
assumed sales tax liabilities and deferred taxssssociated with the acquired NOLs. These puechase adjustments are also reflected
retrospectively as of December 31, 2013 in the mp@mying audited consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2014, as a result of the fimatipase price allocation, the Company recogniz€dr$lion of goodwill, which is
primarily due to the expected synergies of the dastbentities and the workforce in place. The gataeated by the transaction is
nondeductible for tax purposes. A summary of thalfpurchase price allocation for the acquisitibotenna is as follows:

(in thousands

Total purchase consideratic

Cash $ 27,14:
Allocation of the purchase consideratis

Cash $ 782
Accounts receivable, net of allowar 4,18¢
Other asset 3,951
Property and equipme 655
Deferred tax assets, r 2,63¢
Identifiable intangible asse 10,35¢
Goodwill 23,01¢
Accounts payabl (1,39¢)
Accrued liabilities (12,86
Deferred revenu (4,18€)
Net assets acquire $ 27,14

The valuation of the assumed deferred revenue asecbon the Company’s contractual commitment taigeopost-contract
customer support to Antenna clients and futureremtial performance obligations under
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existing hosting arrangements. The fair value i #ssumed liability was based on the estimatetidos a reasonable margin to fulfill these
service obligations. The majority of the deferredanue was recognized in the 12 months followimgattquisition.

The valuation of the acquired intangible asseistisrently subjective and relies on significant liservable inputs. The Company
used an income approach to value the acquiredroestelated, technology and trade name intanggsdeta. The non-compete assets were
valued using the with-and-without method, a fornthaf income approach which considers the cashdifferentials under multiple scenarios
with or without key executives. The valuation faich of these intangible assets was based on estimpatjections of expected cash flows to
be generated by the assets, discounted to thenpreslae at discount rates commensurate with peedaiisk. The valuation assumptions take
into consideration the Company’s estimates of @mttrenewal, technology attrition and revenue ghgevbjections.

The estimated fair values for specifically idemtifie intangible assets acquired, by major asss$,ctae as follows:

Weighted-average

amortization
period

(in thousands) (in years)
Customer related intangible assets $ 4,27¢ 4
Technology 3,65¢ 3
Non-compete 1,342 1
Trade nam 1,07¢ 3

$ 10,35! 3.2

Pro forma Information (Unaudited)

The following pro forma financial information prede the combined results of operations of the Compad Antenna as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2012 aftengyeffect to certain pro forma adjustments. Phne forma adjustments reflected herein
include only those adjustments that are directiybattable to the Antenna acquisition, factuallppartable, and expected to have a contin
impact on the Company. These pro forma adjustmealigde a net increase in amortization expensdirureate historical amortization of
Antenna intangible assets and to record amortizatigpense for the $10.4 million of acquired idealife intangibles, a decrease in interest
income as a result of the cash paid for the adipnsia decrease in interest expense as a resihie sépayment of all Antenna outstanding
debt in connection with the acquisition, and thmglation of approximately $1.3 million of acquisit-related costs, including transaction
costs incurred by the Company and Antenna. Thdqgumoa financial information does not reflect anyustinents for anticipated synergies
resulting from the acquisition and is not nece$gardicative of the operating results that woull/b actually occurred had the transaction
been consummated on January 1, 2012.

Pro Forma
Year Ended December 31
(in thousands, except per share amount: 2013 2012
Revenue $532,97¢  $499,83¢
Net income $ 3581« $ 9,02¢
Net income per basic share $ 047 $ 0.1z2
Net income per diluted share | $ 04 $ 0.17

(1) The per share amounts have been retroactiestated for all prior periods presented to refleetCompany’s two-for-one common
stock split effected in the form of a common stdokdend distributed on April 1, 2014. See NoteBhsis of Presentation” (d) for
further discussion of the Stock Sp
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9. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As discussed in Note 18 “Geographic Information Btajor Clients”, the Company operates in one reglglet segment, Digital

Enterprise Business Solutions, and has one regautiit.

The following table presents the changes in theysay amount of goodwill:

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Balance as of January 1, $ 43,46¢ $ 20,45 $ 20,45
Purchase price adjustments to goodwill retroactiegiplied (1) — 6,00¢ —
Goodwill acquired during the ye 3,431 17,01: —
Translation adjustmen (40) — —
Balance as of December : $ 46,86 $ 43,46 $ 20,45
(1) The purchase price adjustments identified durint2@ave been retroactively applied as of Decembge@13.
Intangible assets are recorded at cost and aretiaetbusing the straight-line method over theimeated useful lives.
Range of Accumulated

Useful Net book
(in thousands) Lives Cost Amortization value
December 31, 2014
Customer related intangibl 4-9 year $ 49,59( $ (24,33)  $25,25.
Technology 3-9 year. 48,34: (28,890 19,45
Other intangible: 1-3 year 5,361 (4,407 96(
Total $103,29: $ (57,629  $45,66¢
December 31, 2013
Customer related intangibl 4-9 year $ 48,63¢ $ (18,317)  $30,31:
Technology 3-9 year. 47,102 (22,877) 24,22¢
Other intangible: 1-5 year 4,65¢ (2,630 2,02¢
Total $100,39: $ (43,8200  $56,57¢

Amortization expense of acquired intangibles wédleceed in the Company’s consolidated statementypefations as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Amortization expense
Cost of revenu $ 6,017 $ 6,44: $ 6,18¢
Selling and marketin 6,022 5,17¢ 4,92¢
General and administrati 1,77( 39¢€ 20
Total amortization expen: $13,80¢ $12,01¢ $11,13"
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As of December 31, 2014, future estimated amortinaxpense is as follows:

(in thousands
2015

2016
2017
2018
2019 and thereaftt

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Future estimated
amortization

expense
$ 12,21(

11,52¢

9,82/

8,82¢

3,28:

$ 45,66

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Partner commissions $ 2,441 $ 4,10¢
Other taxe: 10,97( 10,38:
Employee reimbursable expen: 1,47¢ 1,53¢
Dividends payabl 2,29¢ 1,14t
Professional services contractor fi 2,297 1,997
Selfinsurance health and dental clai 2,11¢ 1,26¢
Professional fee 2,441 2,86¢
Shor-term deferred rer 1,44¢ 74C
Income taxes payab 8,96¢ 1,45(
Acquisitior-related expenses and merger consider: 2,70z 90z
Restructuring 461 371
Marketing expenses and progra 1,84( 1,27¢
Other 3,50¢ 3,581
$ 42,95 $ 31,62

11. DEFERRED REVENUE
December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Software license $ 38,96: $ 28,82¢
Maintenance 83,46 72,71t
Cloud 4,20¢ 2,36(
Services and othe 8,03t 6,78¢
Current deferred revent 134,67: 110,69(
Software licensi 19,87¢ 32,727
Maintenance and servic 981 1,11¢
Cloud — 354
Long-term deferred revent 20,85¢ 34,19¢
$ 155,53 $ 144,88
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12. ACCRUED RESTRUCTURING

During the fourth quarter of 2013, in connectionhathe Company’s evaluation of its combined faieiitwith Antenna, the Company

approved a plan to eliminate space within oneifgicirfhe Company ceased use of this space duriadptirth quarter of 2013 and recognized

$1.7 million of restructuring expenses. During thied quarter of 2014, the Company restructuredémeaining space within the same faci
revised its restructuring estimate, and recogn&@@ million in additional restructuring expensées$e restructuring expenses represent f
lease payments and demising costs, net of estirsatddase income for this space. The lease expi2@21.

A summary of the restructuring activity is as fol

Antenna personne

and facilities
(in thousands) restructuring (1) Total
Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ — $ 1,04:
Cash payment — (602)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ = $ 441
Restructuring cosl 1,73: 1,731
Cash payment — (447
Other (140 (140
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 1,591 $ 1,59
Restructuring cosl 192 19z
Cash payment (47¢) (47¢€)
Other (128) (129)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 1,17¢ $ 1,17¢

(1) Includes $34 thousand of severance and relatedibeosts for the reduction of six personnel inuadant roles that was paid by the
of the second quarter of 201

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Reported as

Accrued expense $ 46 $ 37
Other lon¢-term liabilities 71€ 1,22(

$ 1,17¢ $ 1,591

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments
The Company leases space for its offices underararatiable operating leases that expire at vaudatss through 2023.
60



Table of Contents

PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s future mimnrental payments required under operating leagbsnoncancellable terms
in excess of one year were as follows:

(in thousands; Operating
For the calendar yea Leases (1)
2015 $ 12,64¢
2016 13,39:
2017 13,12t
2018 13,18
2019 11,28:
2020 & Thereafte 36,37

$ 100,00

(1) Operating leases include future minimum reninpents, net of estimated sublease income, foritiasithat we have vacated pursuant to
our restructuring activities, as discussed in Nidte

Rent expense under operating leases is recognizadtraight-line basis to account for scheduled irereases and landlord tenant
allowances. In connection with the Company’s Idaséts office headquarters, the Company has aldaddenant allowance totaling
approximately $9.4 million, of which $8.4 millionag used and reimbursed to the Company as of Dec&dhp2012 and will be amortized as
a reduction to rent expense on a straight-linesbasér the term of the lease. Total rent expendenoperating leases was approximately
$12.5 million, $11.7 million and $14.1 million ftie years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 284k ctively.

Contingencies

The Company is a party in various contractual dispuitigation and potential claims arising in tivéinary course of business. The
Company does not believe that the resolution afehmatters will have a material adverse effect®financial position or results of
operations.

14. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Preferred stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000 shares adrpeefstock, which may be issued from time to timene or more series. The
Board of Directors has the authority to issue theras of preferred stock in one or more seriesstablish the number of shares to be inclt
in each series, and to fix the designation, powmeferences and rights of the shares of eachssamni@ the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, without any further vote otian by the stockholders. The issuance of prefiesteck could decrease the amount of
earnings and assets available for distributionaiddrs of common stock, and may have the effedetdying, deferring or defeating a change
in control of the Company. The Company had notdadsany shares of preferred stock through Decenthe2(®BL4.

(b) Common stock

The Company has 200,000,000 authorized sharesyahom stock, $0.01 par value per share, of whicB¥BP00 shares were isst
and outstanding at December 31, 2014. At the Copip@014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, held ony\28, 2014, the stockholders
approved an amendment to the Company’s Restatétdesrbf Organization increasing the number of atitted shares of common stock
from 100,000,000 to 200,000,000.
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Since 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors hgsaped stock repurchase programs that have audwbtie Company to
repurchase in the aggregate up to $119 milliotssfdmmon stock. Purchases under these prograresiean made on the open market. The
following table is a summary of the Company’s remaise activity under all of the Company’s repureh@®grams for the years ended
December 31:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Shares (1 Amount Shares (1 Amount Shares (1 Amount
Prior year authorizations at January 1, $ 14,43 $ 14,79: $ 13,96
Authorizations 14,41( 12,16« 6,03¢
Repurchases pa 756,141 (15,264  773,25¢ (22,37¢) 363,60t (5,130
Repurchases unsettl 13,98 (295 6,28 (159 6,79¢ (76)
Authorized dollars remaining as of December $ 13,28 $ 14,43 $ 14,79

(1) The number of shares outstanding for all pperiods has been retroactively restated to reffecCompany’s two-for-one common
stock split effected in the form of a common stdokdend distributed on April 1, 2014. See NoteBhSis of Presentation” (d) for
further discussion of the Stock Sp

(c) Dividends

On May 27, 2014, the Company announced an inctieatequarterly common stock cash dividend from038 to $0.03 per share,
on a post-split basis. The Company declared qupaderdends totaling $0.105 per share, $0.06 pars, and $0.06 per share, on a post-split
basis, for the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132012, respectively. The Company’s Board oé&ors authorized the acceleration of
the payment of the dividend declared in the foguhrter 2012, otherwise payable in January 201Betember 2012. Therefore, there was
no dividend payment in the first quarter of 2018t the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, arzi #84 Company paid cash dividend:
$6.9 million, $3.4 million, and $5.7 million, resgevely. It is the Company’s current intention taypa quarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per
share, however, the Board of Directors may termeilmatmodify this dividend program at any time withaotice.

(d) Warrants summary

In January 2012, a former stockholder of 1mind @eapon (“1mind”) exercised a warrant to purchag#28 shares, on a post-split
basis, of the Company’s common stock, which wagimally issued as part of the consideration forGloenpany’s acquisition of 1mind in
2002. In accordance with the net exercise provssifithis warrant, the Company withheld 156 shasasa post-split basis, of its common
stock to cover the exercise price of the warrahictv shares were valued at $2,094 based on thageetosing price of its common stock
over the ten consecutive trading days ending orhiné trading day prior to the exercise date, msded 4,772 shares, on a post-split basis, of
its common stock. The issuance of these sharesnaéds in reliance on an exemption from registratioder Regulation D under the
Securities Act of 1933. As of December 31, 2014 Bedember 31, 2013, there were no warrants outisignd

15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The majority of the Company’s stock-based compémsarrangements vest over either a four or fivar ywesting schedule and the
Company’s stock options have a ten-year term. Tdra@any recognizes stock-based compensation usingcitelerated recognition method,
treating each vesting tranche as if it were anviddial grant.
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The Company periodically grants stock options audricted stock units (“RSUs”) for a fixed nhumbésbares upon vesting to
employees and noamployee Directors. The exercise price for stodionog is greater than or equal to the fair marledti® of the shares at t
grant date. RSUs deliver to the recipient a righteceive a specified number of shares of the Cogipagommon stock upon vesting. Unlike
stock options, there is no cost to the employeshate issuance. The Company values its RSUs &ithelue of its common stock on the
grant date, which is the closing price of its conmnstock on the grant date, less the present vdlarpected dividends, as the employee i<
entitled to dividends during the requisite senpegiod. Upon vesting of the RSUs, the Company waltié shares of common stock in an
amount sufficient to cover the minimum statutory wathholding obligations and issues shares of@samon stock for the remaining amount.

Employees may elect to receive 50% of their taimgs#ntive compensation under the Company’s Corpdratentive Compensation
Plan (the “CICP”) in the form of RSUs instead o$lealf elected by an employee, the equity amouatjisal in value on the date of grant to
50% of his or her target incentive opportunity,dzhen the employee’s base salary. The number ofsRfsahted is determined by dividing
50% of the employee’s target incentive opportubigythe fair value of a RSU on the grant date.ét&dd, the award vests 100% on the CICP
payout date of the following year for all partiaia. Vesting is conditioned upon the performanaed@mns of the CICP and on continued
employment; if threshold funding does not occue, ¢lguity grant will be cancelled. The Company cders vesting to be probable on the
grant date and recognizes the associated stocktoasgpensation expense over the requisite sereigecbeginning on the grant date and
ending on the vest date.

The Company grants options that allow for the setént of vested stock options on a net share fagissettled stock options”),
instead of settlement with a cash payment (“catitedestock options”). With net settled stock oppthe employee does not surrender any
cash or shares upon exercise. Rather, the Compitimlyolds the number of shares to cover the opti@rase price and the minimum
statutory tax withholding obligations from the siathat would otherwise be issued upon exercise séttlement of vested stock options on a
net share basis results in fewer shares issuedeb@ampany.

Share-Based Compensation Plans:
(a) 1994 Long-term Incentive Plan

In 1994, the Company adopted the 1994 Long-Termantiee Plan (as amended in 2003, the “1994 Planprovide employees,
Directors and consultants with opportunities tochpaise stock through incentive stock options andquatified stock options. In addition to
options, participants under the 1994 Plan weraldéido receive stock appreciation rights, restcstock and long-term performance awards.
The term for granting awards under the 1994 Plauired in April 2005, however, awards outstandingipto expiration continued to be
governed by the terms and conditions of the 1994.Ps of December 31, 2014, all options to purelsmres of common stock under the
1994 Plan were exercised.

(b) 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan

In 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Non-Empl®yesctor Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan”)high provided for the
grant to non-employee Directors of the Companyptioms to purchase shares of its common stockskdres authorized for issue under this
plan have been awarded. Since 2006, in lieu oftoygfully vested options, the Company has grasteates of its common stock to its non-
employee directors under the 2004 Long-Term Ingerfélan, as described below. As of December 314 28{dtions to purchase an aggregate
of approximately 30,000 shares of common stock watstanding under the Director Plan.
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(c) Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term IncentivanP

In 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Long-Terraritice Plan (the “2004 Plan”) to provide employeem-employee Directors
and consultants with opportunities to purchasekstimough incentive stock options and non-qualiséatck options. In addition to options,
eligible participants under the 2004 Plan may laantgd stock purchase rights and other stock-basarta. In July 2011, the Company’s
stockholders approved the Pegasystems Inc. Amesmtt&Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (thest®ted 2004 Plan”), which
authorized the issuance of an additional 5,0008b@0es under the plan and extended the term @idineto 2021. Since 2006, the Company
has granted to each non-employee director of tegaoy unrestricted shares of common stock on anadfasis in consideration of their
board service. The number of unrestricted sharsted to each non-employee director was equal3¢$9, $70,000, and $70,000, divided
by the fair market value of the Company’s commamtlsion the grant date, for 2014, 2013, and 20Eheetively. On March 6, 2014, the
Company'’s Board of Directors approved a two-for-etaek split of the Company’s common stock, effddtethe form of a stock
dividend. See Note 1 “Basis of Presentation” (d)féother discussion of the Stock Split. As a résifithe Stock Split, the number of shares
available for issuance under the 2004 Plan doutlsahf December 31, 2014, approximately 7,788,0G0es were subject to outstanding
options and stock-based awards under the Resta@&HRlan.

(d) 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 EmployeekStacchase Plan (the “2006 ESPP”) pursuant to wiielCompany’s
employees are entitled to purchase up to an aggrefi®00,000 shares of common stock at a pricaldquat least 85% of the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on either trarnencement date or completion date for offerimgfeun the plan, whichever is less, or
such higher price as the Company’s Board of Dimschoay establish from time to time. Until the Comya Board of Directors determines
otherwise, the Board has set the purchase prigg%tof the fair market value on the completion dxtthe offering period. As a result, the
2006 ESPP is non-compensatory and is tax qualifibdrefore, as of December 31, 2014, no compemsakipense related to shares issued
under the plan had been recognized. In October,28&2ZCompany’s Board of Directors amended the t&rthe 2006 ESPP such that it will
continue until there are no shares remaining tssged under the plan or until the plan is tern@iddty the Board of Directors, whichever
occurs first. On March 6, 2014, the Company’s Ba#rDirectors approved a two-for-one stock splitied Company’s common stock,
effected in the form of a stock dividend. See Nbt8asis of Presentationd] for further discussion of the Stock Split. Aseault of the Stoc
Split, the number of shares available for issuamter the 2004 Plan doubled. As of December 314 2&3proximately 307,000 shares had
been issued thereunder.

Shares reserve

As of December 31, 2014, there were approximat@9&000 shares remaining for issuance for futquétg grants under the
Company’s stock plans, consisting of approximatB03,000 shares under the Restated 2004 Plarppnoixémately 693,000 shares under
the 2006 ESPP. There were no shares availabletiaef equity grants under the 1994 Plan or thedborePlan.

Equity grants, assumptions and activity

During 2014, the Company issued approximately 70@tghares to its employees under the Company’'ediesed compensation
plans and approximately 29,000 shares to the ngrlegme members of its Board of Directors.
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The following table presents the stock-based comsgi@n expense included in the Company’s cons@ilatatements of operations:

Year ended December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Stoclk-based compensation expen
Cost of revenue $ 533 % 4,08 $ 3,65
Operating expenst 13,87( 8,78¢ 7,851
Total stocl-based compensation before 19,20¢ 12,86¢ 11,50¢
Income tax benefi (5,56%) (3,919 (3,699

Stock Options

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes option valuation model Keuts used to estimate the
fair value of stock options include the exercisiegpf the award, the expected term of the optioa expected volatility of the Company’s
common stock over the option’s expected term, ilefree interest rate over the option’s expectztht and the Company’s expected annual
dividend yield. The amount of stock-based compémsaecognized during a period is based on theevafithe awards that are ultimately
expected to vest. Forfeitures are estimated dirtieeof grant and revised, if necessary, in subsegperiods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Ultimately, the Company recogrttzesictual expense over the vesting period onlyhfe shares that vest. The weighted-
average grant-date fair value for stock optionsig@in 2014, 2013, and 2012, was $7.58, $6.7254r(R, respectively.

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Batloles option valuation model are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility (1) 47% 49% 54%
Expected term in years ( 4.4 4.t 4.3
Risk-free interest rate (¢ 1.3%% 1.02% 0.65%
Expected annual dividend yield ( 0.44% 0.42% 0.52%

(1) The expected volatility for each grant is detered based on the average of historical dailyepeitanges of the Company’s common
stock over a period of time which approximatesdkpeected option tern

(2) The expected option term for each grant isrd@teed based on the historical exercise behaviengfloyees and post-vesting
employment termination behavic

(3) The risk-free interest rate is based on thi&lysé zero-coupon U.S. Treasury securities for @gaethat is commensurate with the
expected option term at the time of gre

(4) The expected annual dividend yield is basetherweighted-average of the dividend yield assuongtused for options granted during
the applicable period. The expected annual dividewlhistorically been based on the expected didiaé $0.06 per share, per year
($0.015 per share, per quarter times 4 quartensy, post-split basis, divided by the average sfode. On May 27, 2014, the Company
announced an increase in its quarterly cash diddenm $0.015 to $0.03 per share. Thus, for grarade after this date, the expected
annual dividend is based on the expected dividé$d.d2 per share, per year ($0.03 per share, ymatay times 4 quarters), divided by
the average stock pric

The Company elected to adopt the alternative ttiansinethod (“short cut method”) in calculating litistorical pool of windfall tax
benefits in regards to its share-based compensation
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The following table summarizes the combined stqufiom activity under the Company’s stock optionnddor the year ended
December 31, 2014:

Weighted-
average Aggregate
Weighted-average remaining intrinsic value
Shares (in contractual
thousands) exercise price term (in years) (in thousands
Options outstanding as of January 1, 2014 5,99 $ 10.4
Grantec 1,361 20.0¢
Exercisec (954) 7.17
Forfeited/Cancelle: (309) 13.4¢
Options outstanding as of December 31, 2 6,10( $ 12.9¢
Vested and expected to vest as December 31, 5,10¢ $ 12.6 6.8 $ 41,44¢
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 2,55¢ $ 10.0¢ 5.1 $ 2747

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options eised (i.e., the difference between the markeepaicexercise and the price paid by
the employee at exercise) in 2014, 2013, and 2G2$43.2 million, $20.6 million and $8.5 milliorspectively. The aggregate intrinsic
value of stock options outstanding and exercisablef December 31, 2014 is based on the differbateeen the closing price of the
Company'’s stock of $20.77 on December 31, 2014tlam@xercise price of the applicable stock options.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had unrecedriibck-based compensation expense related tmttested portion of stock
options of approximately $8.1 million that is exfEtto be recognized as expense over a weightedge/@eriod of approximately 2.2 years.

RSUs

The weighted-average grant-date fair value for R§tdsted in 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $19.88, $1&r6$16.18, respectively.
The following table summarizes the combined RSWvigtfor periodic grants and the CICP under thesfReed 2004 Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2014:

Weighted- Aggregate
Average Intrinsic
Shares Grant-Date Value
(in thousands) Fair Value (in thousands)

Nonvested as of January 1, 2( 92€ $ 16.02
Grantec 1,301 19.8¢
Vested (389) 15.6(C
Forfeited (122 18.0C
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 1,71¢ $ 18.9( $ 35,67¢
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2 1,29 $ 19.0 $ 26,88

The RSUs associated with periodic grants vest fiveryears with 20% vesting after one year andrémaining 80% vesting in eqt
quarterly installments over the remaining four gedpproximately 100,000 RSUs granted in connectigh the 2014 CICP are expected to
vest 100% in March 2015.

The fair value of RSUs vested in 2014, 2013, ant?20as $8.0 million, $7.3 million, and $7.1 milliorespectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of RSUs outstanding and expectedett as of December 31, 2014 is based on thengigsice of the Company’s stock of
$20.77 on December 31, 2014.
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approrim&t2.9 million of unrecognized stock-based conga¢ion expense related
to all unvested RSUs that is expected to be rezegriis expense over a weighted-average periodhofdmately 2.1 years.

16. INCOME TAXES

Effective tax rate

The components of income before provision for inedaxes are as follows for the years ended Dece8tiber

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ 36,48¢ $ 47,05 $ 20,49
Foreign 11,50 9,33! 10,44
Total income before provisic $ 47,99 $ 56,39! $ 30,94t
The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows for the years ended December 31:
(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federa $ 22,48t $ 20,271 $  12,12¢
State 2,95: 2,05¢ 971
Foreign 3,19¢ 3,021 2,14;
Total current provisiol 28,63t 25,35¢ 15,24:
Deferred:
Federa (11,979 (6,069 (4,759
State (1,209 (634) (870
Foreign (715) (30£) (53%)
Total deferred benef (13,896 (7,009 (6,164
Total provision $ 14,73 $ 18,35 $ 9,07
The effective income tax rate differed from thestiary federal income tax rate due to the following
2014 2013 2012
Statutory federal income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Valuation allowanct 0.t — (3.0
Transaction cosl — 0.4 —
State income taxes, net of federal benefit anattadits 1.8 1.4 (0.9
Permanent difference i 1.C 1.7
Domestic production activitie (4.9 (3.9 (3.9
Federal research and experimentation cre .7 (2.8 —
Tax effects of foreign activitie (2.2 (1.9 (2.7
Tax-exempt incom (0.2 (0.2 (0.2
Provision to return adjustmer — 0.8 0.€
Non-deductible compensatic 2.t 1.2 iz
Provision for uncertain tax positiol (0.7 1.kt 2.8
Other 0.9 0.2 (1.9
Effective income tax rat 30.% 32.% 29.%
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Deferred income taxe

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax attributebtan effects of temporary differences betweenctdreying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax purposes. Significamiponents of net deferred tax assets and

liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 (1)
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 86,77( $ 87,70¢
Accruals and reserv 24,39 21,19:
Software revenu 13,19¢ 7,86%
Depreciatior 4,65¢ 4,37¢
Tax credit carryforward 6,02¢ 5,35¢
Other 38 (22
Total deferred tax asse 135,08 126,47:
Less valuation allowancs (35,620 (36,076
Total deferred tax asse $ 99,46 $ 90,39¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles $ (17,23) $ (21,31)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (17,23) (21,31)
Net deferred income tax ass $ 82,23: $ 69,08
Reported as
Current deferred tax ass $ 12,97« $ 12,33¢
Long-term deferred income tax ass 69,25¢ 56,74¢
Total deferred income tax $ 82,23 $ 69,08

(1) The purchase price adjustments related to the Aataesquisition identified during 2014 were retragpely applied as of December :
2013. See Note “Acquisition¢’ for further discussion of these adjustme

The Company regularly assesses the need for aticadidlowance against its deferred tax assetmdking that assessment, the
Company considers both positive and negative ecilealated to the likelihood of realization of theferred tax assets to determine, based or
the weight of available evidence, whether it is ealikely-than-not that some or all of the defertax assets will not be realized. This
determination requires significant judgment, indghgdassumptions about future taxable income ttebased on historical and projected
information. There were no material adjustmenth&Company’s valuation allowance position duri@d£2 The $0.5 million net decrease in
the valuation allowance during the period primaréiates to movements in foreign exchange rates.$P4 million net increase in the
valuation allowance during 2013 primarily relateghe valuation allowance recorded against theieedjAntenna federal and foreign NOLs
that the Company had preliminarily determined itddonot be able to utilize due to various limitaisoand restrictions.

The Company acquired approximately $39.6 milliod §68.1 million of federal and foreign NOLSs, resipegly, in the Antenna
acquisition. The Company has determined that it otdige $7.5 million of the acquired Antenna fedlelOLs under the applicable section
382 limitation, and these losses are scheduledpmesthrough 2031. A valuation allowance is re@aran the deferred tax assets in excess of
the federal NOLs that are deemed recoverable uhddimitation. With regard to the acquired foreig@Ls, a full valuation allowance has
been recorded as of December 31, 2014 due to aimgrtegarding the availability of these NOLs fset future income generated by the
related foreign businesses due to limitations utotel country
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change in control provisions. As of December 31,22@he Company had approximately $39.3 milliomcduired Antenna federal NOLs,
which are subject to annual use limitations unéetisn 382. Based on those limitations, the Comgariicipates using $7.1 million of the
remaining NOLs by 2031.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approeim&t15.8 million of acquired Chordiant federal DNQwhich are subject to
annual use limitations under section 382. Basethose limitations, the Company anticipates using $@lion of the remaining NOLs by
2029. In addition, the Company has $0.7 milliomeferred tax assets related to state NOLs as oéibeer 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had avails®I2 million of state tax research and experimémaf'R&E") credits and $0.
million of investment tax credits expiring in theays 2015 through 2029.

The Company’s India subsidiary is a developmentaran an area designated as a Special Economie Z&8&Z") and is entitled to
a tax holiday in India. The tax holiday reduceliminates income tax in that country and is schetito expire in 2022. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the effecteoirttome tax holiday was to reduce the overallimedax provision by approximately $(
million, $0.5 million, and $0.5 million, respectiye The benefit of the tax holiday on net income gleare (diluted) was $0.01 for each of the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and :

In 2014, the Company reduced its income tax payap®3.1 million for the tax benefit realized frahe exercise, sale or vesting of
equity awards.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreignsidilaries amounted to approximately $44.7 millismdDecember 31, 2014. The
Company has not provided any additional federatate income taxes or foreign withholding taxestenundistributed earnings as such
earnings have been indefinitely reinvested in th&r®ess. It is impractical to estimate the amotfitdothe Company could have to pay upon
repatriation due to the complexity of foreign tardit calculations and because the Company corssitteearnings permanently reinvested.

Uncertain tax benefits and other considerations

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending baksof the total amounts of gross unrecognized émetits is as follows:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Balance as of January 1, $ 40,92¢ $ 26,311 § 25,31
Additions based on tax positions related to theaniryeal 4,041 4,32( 3,85¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 28t 35( 96¢
(Reductions) Additions for acquired uncertain texéfits (71€) 10,26¢ —
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (1,149 (32¢) (3,819
Balance as of December ¢ $ 43,39 $ 40,92 § 26,31

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approrim&® 3.4 million of total unrecognized tax bergfinf which $23.4 million
would decrease the Company’s effective tax ratedbgnized. However, approximately $20 millionleé$e unrecognized tax benefits relate
to acquired NOLs and research tax credits, whietsabject to limitations on use. The Company exptett the changes in the unrecognized
benefits within the next twelve months will be amgmately $0.5 million, all of which relate to tleepiration of applicable statute of
limitations and would reduce the Company’s effextiax rate if realized.
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, the redschioriax positions of prior years were relatethi® lapse in the applicable statute
of limitations, revision of purchase accountingrestes, settlements of audits, and the impactdifin currency exchange rates. For the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the redadtr tax positions of prior years were all rethto the lapse in the applicable statut
limitations.

The Company recognizes interest accrued and pesadtiated to unrecognized tax benefits in thenmectax provision. For the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Compaagnized interest expense of approximately $0lBon, $0.3 million, and $0.1
million, respectively. For the years ended Decen®ier2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company did notgm@ize any significant penalties. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had acapmdximately $1.5 million and $1.1 million, resfieely, for interest and penalties.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.$l iarforeign jurisdictions. The Company’s 2011, 2@hd 2013 federal income
tax returns are under examination. The Compangnelly not subject to U.S. federal, state, oalloor foreign income tax examinations by
tax authorities for the years before 2008. With fxgeptions, the statute of limitations remainsmojpeall jurisdictions for the tax years 2009
to the present.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed using thehtexigaverage number of common shares outstandiggdihe period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed using the weightethge number of common shares outstanding dunmgériod, plus the dilutive effect of
outstanding options, warrants, and RSUs, usindgrézesury stock method and the average market pfitee Company’s common stock
during the applicable period. Certain shares rdladesome of the Company’s outstanding stock optiamarrants and RSUs were excluded
from the computation of diluted earnings per slhseause they were antidilutive in the periods preesk but could be dilutive in the future.

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands, except per share amount: 2014 2013 2012
Basic (1)
Net income $ 33,25¢ $ 38,04 $ 21,86¢
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 76,32 75,94 75,70
Earnings per share, ba: $ 0.44 $ 0.5C $ 0.2¢
Diluted (1)
Net income $ 33,25¢ $ 38,04 $ 21,86¢
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 76,327 75,94¢ 75,70¢
Weightec-average effect of dilutive securitie
Stock options and warrar 1,69¢ 1,62¢ 1,55¢
RSUs 50€ 40z 45¢
Effect of assumed exercise of stock options, wasrand RSU: 2,204 2,02¢ 2,012
Weightec-average common shares outstanding, assuming di 78,53: 77,97¢ 77,71¢
Earnings per share, dilut: $ 0.42 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.2¢
Outstanding options, warrants and RSUs excludéchpact would be

antidilutive 98 22€ 124

(1) The number of common shares and per share @ambane been retroactively restated for all prigniquls presented to reflect the
Company’s two-for-one common stock split effectedhie form of a common stock dividend distributedAgril 1, 2014. See Note 1
“Basis of Presentati” (d) for further discussion of the Stock Sg
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18. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR CLIENTS

Operating segments are defined as componentseritarprise about which separate financial infororais available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decisiaker (“CODM”") in deciding how to allocate resoescand in assessing performance.

The Company develops and licenses its softwardigniiand provides consulting services, maintenaamee training related to its
software. The Company derives substantially aitsofevenue from the sale and support of one godigimilar products and services—
software that provides business process solutiotisel enterprise applications market. To assedsrpeance, the Company’s CODM reviews
financial information on a consolidated basis. TQmempany has one operating segment after complétanmtegration of Antenna’s
operations. Therefore, the Company determinedsitdme reportable segment—Digital Enterprise Busiigsdutions, and one reporting unit.

The Company’s international revenue is from sadedients based outside of the U.S. The Companyeltits operating revenue
from the following geographic areas:

Year ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

u.S. $ 327,15 55% $ 278,94 55% $ 250,02 54%
Other America: 32,64 6% 18,94: 4% 27,74 6%
United Kingdom 93,92: 16% 83,13 16% 87,13t 19%
Other EMEA (1) 87,05( 15% 82,74 16% 70,58 15%
Asia Pacific 49,23t _ 8% 45,19( % 26,22¢ _ 6%

$ 59000«  100% $ 50895  10(% $ 46171  10(%

(1) Includes Europe other than the UK, the Middle Bast Africa, “Other EMEZ").

Long-lived assets related to the Company’s U.S.iattnational operations were as follows:

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013

uU.S. $ 18,27 61% $ 21,28 74%

India 8,94: 2% 4,64t 16%

International, othe 2,93i _ 1% 3,03( _ 1%
$ 30,15¢ _10(% $ 28,95 10(%
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PEGASYSTEMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

There were no clients accounting for 10% or morthefCompany’s total revenue in 2014, 2013, and®2U0here was one client that
accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s tradeivables, net, as of December 31, 2013, as Istémlv. The Company'’s financial
services, healthcare and insurance clients asupgapresent a significant amount of the Compargyvenues and receivables. However, the
Company determined this concentration did not leaweaterial impact on its allowance for sales credimos as of December 31, 2014.

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Trade receivables, net of allowances $154,84:  $165,64:
Client A n/e 16%

Marketable securities are another financial insgatithat potentially subject the Company to a cotreéion of credit risk. See Note
3 “Marketable Securities” and Note 5 “Fair Value &arements” for further discussion.

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribugdinement plan for qualifying employees pursuanihich the Company mak
discretionary matching contributions. The Compargxpense under the plan totaled approximately ®8lidn in 2014, $2.9 million in 201
and $2.8 million in 2012. In addition, the Compdras defined contribution plans for qualifying imational employees and contributions
expensed under those plans totaled approximatelyriilion in 2014, $3.7 million in 2013, and $3llion in 2012.

20. SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2014
(in thousands, except per share amount: 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter
Revenue $ 14046 $ 14298 $ 137,63 $ 168,92
Gross profit 94,55! 96,29 91,24¢ 122,81¢
Income from operation 14,627 2,22 4,997 29,69:
Income before provision for income tay 14,54: 2,381 2,352 28,71«
Net income 9,76t 1,504 1,88 20,10¢
Net earnings per share, basic $ 0.1z §$ 0.0z § 0.0z § 0.27
Net earnings per share, diluted $ 01z $ 0.0z § 0.0z § 0.2¢€

2013
(in thousands, except per share amount: 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter (2)
Revenue $ 11624 $ 117,31 $ 122,01 $ 153,38
Gross profit 78,59! 79,43% 83,91 109,60!
Income from operation 12,95 7,052 13,78¢ 24,30:
Income before provision for income tay 12,01¢ 6,657 13,41( 24,30¢
Net income 9,06¢ 4,70z 8,71( 15,56
Net earnings per share, basic $ 01z $ 0.0¢e $ 0.11 $ 0.21
Net earnings per share, diluted $ 0.1z $ 0.0¢e $ 0.11 $ 0.2C

(1) On March 6, 2014, the Company’s Board of Divestapproved a two-for-one stock split of the Conypmcommon stock, effected in
the form of a common stock dividend. See No"Basis of Presentati” (d) for further discussion of the Stock Sg

(2) Reflects the Company’s acquisition of AntennaQxtober 9, 2013. See Note 8 “Acquisitions” foo fwrma information for the year
ended December 31, 20!
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ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer, or CEO, and Chief Financial ioéf, or CFO, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{@¢nthe Securities Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2014. In designing and evaluatingl@alosure controls and procedures, our manageraeagnized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraée provide only reasonable assurance of acigeheir objectives, and our
management necessarily applied its judgment inuetialg the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatomls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that ourl@isce controls and procedures were effective &eckmber 31, 2014.

(b) Management’s Report on and Changes in Interr@bntrol over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) underSeeurities Exchange Act. Under the supervisionwitit the participation of our
management, including our CEO and CFO, we conduateslvaluation of the effectiveness of our integuaitrol over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2014 based on the framework ingaatednternal Control—Integrated Framewo(R013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis§iGS0O”) on May 14, 2013. Based on this evaluatimanagement has concluded
that (i) our disclosure controls and proceduresveffective as of December 31, 2014 and (ii) naglkan our internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢()1ider the Securities Exchange Act) occurredmduthe quarter ended December 31,
2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonbikdyy to materially affect, our internal controVer financial reporting.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registeredliz accounting firm which also audited our condated financial statements,
has issued an attestation report on our internatabover financial reporting, which is included page 40 in Item 8 Financial Statements
Supplementary Data.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10.  Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

Except as set forth below, the information requipgahis Item is contained in our proxy statememtdur 2015 annual stockholders
meeting (the “2015 proxy statement”) under the hegatElection of Directors,” and is incorporatedréim by reference. Information relating
to certain filings on Forms 3, 4, and 5 is contdimeour 2015 proxy statement under the headingti®e 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” and is incorporated hergimeference. Information required by this item manst to Items 407 (c) (3), 407(d) (4),
and 407(d) (5) of Regulation S-K relating to aniaadmmittee financial expert, the identificatiohtbe audit committee of our Board of
Directors and procedures of security holders tomanend nominees to our Board of Directors is coein the 2015 proxy statement under
the heading “Corporate Governance” and is incotedraerein by reference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thatieppd our Board of Directors and all of our em@ey, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, pdipal accounting officer, or persons performirmikir functions. A copy of our code of
conduct can be found on our Website, www.pega.cde intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementer Iltem 5.05 of Form 8-K and
under the applicable the NASDAQ Global Select Markiées by posting such information on our Webgitaccordance with such
requirements.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of our executive officers and certaiormftion about them are set forth below as of Fatyrdi, 2015:

Alan Trefler,age 58, a founder of Pegasystems, serves as Cteetiive Officer and Chairman and has been a Qiresihce we
organized in 1983. Prior to 1983, he managed astreldc funds transfer product for TMI Systems Gwgtion, a software and services
company. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree in Econmyand Computer Science from Dartmouth College.

Rafeal Brownage 46, joined Pegasystems in October 2013 as Eimaficial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer drSenior Vice
President. Mr. Brown served as a Senior Vice Pesgidf Finance, Treasury and Tax, at Salesforce.ederading provider of cloud
computing software applications, where he was epgaldrom 2004 to 2013. From 1999 to 2004, Mr. Bramarked at Cisco Systems, a
leading provider of networking technologies. MroRmn is a certified public accountant and holds &. B accounting from Southern Utah
University and a Masters in accounting from Brighdoung University.

Efstathios Kouninis age 53 joined Pegasystems in April 2008 as Vice PresidéRiinance. The Board of Directors appointed
Mr. Kouninis as the Company’s Chief Accounting ©fi in May 2008 and Treasurer in January 2014. Frebruary 2006 to April 2008,
Mr. Kouninis served as Chief Financial Officer an@asurer of Tasker Products Corporation, a pybltielded manufacturer of antimicrobial
chemicals. From November 2004 to February 2006,Kduninis served on the Staff of the Division ofr@oration Finance of the U. S.
Securities and Exchange Commission. Mr. Kouninigdia Post Baccalaureate in Accounting, a M.Saxation from Bentley College, and a
B.S. from the University of Massachusetts.

Douglas Kra,age 52 joined Pegasystems in November 2004 as Vice Presidéslobal Services. In July 2014, the Company re
organized its sales and consulting services funstimder one responsibility for specific geographgions, and Mr. Kra was promoted to
Senior Vice President of Global Customer Succesmfernational regions. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Keaived as Vice President at eLoyalty
Corp., a consulting company specializing in custorakationship management. From 2000 to 2001, Ma. $erved as President of Zefer
Corp., an internet consulting firm. Prior to Zefielr,. Kra spent ten years at Cambridge Technologynies Inc. in a variety of senior roles.
He holds a B.A. in Computer Science from Brandeis/ersity and an M.B.A. in finance from the New ¥dyniversity Stern School of
Business.

74



Table of Contents

Michael Pyle, age 6Q joined Pegasystems in 1985 and has served as S&o@President of Engineering since August 2000.
Including his positions with Pegasystems, Mr. Pylg’'ofessional background encompasses more thiyytaars of software development
and managerial experience throughout Europe and tBeMr. Pyle completed his B.C.S. specializingmmputer Science and Systems
Programming at the Civil Service College in London.

Leon Treflerage 54, joined Pegasystems in April 1998 as an éucBxecutive for Strategic Business Developmeinicésthen he
has held various senior sales management posdimoss the Company and in Channel Sales. In 2@0umched the commercialization of
PegaRULES Process Commander, the predecessordad’PEgom April 2007 to January 2010, Mr. Treflengd as Vice President of Sales,
North America and in January 2010, Mr. Trefler ygasmoted to Senior Vice President of Sales. In 2044, the Company -organized its
sales and consulting services functions under esggonsibility for specific geographic regions, &md Trefler was promoted to Senior Vice
President of Global Customer Success for the Arasniegion. Mr. Trefler holds a B.A. degree from thayuth College.

Alan Trefler and Leon Trefler are brothers. Thee o other family relationships among any of owgaaitive officers or Directors.

ITEM 11.  Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is contaiedhe 2015 proxy statement under the headingsetir Compensation”,
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, and “Exa®u€ompensation” and is incorporated herein bgnazice.
ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management ad Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this item with respect tock ownership of certain beneficial owners and aggament is contained in the
2015 proxy statement under the heading “Securitp€rship of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manageiramd is incorporated herein by
reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain informationtivrespect to our equity compensation plans incetis of December 31, 2014:

@

Number of shares of
common stock to be
issued upon exercise
of outstanding
stock options and vesting of RSUs (

(In thousands, except per shar
amounts)

Equity compensation plans

approved by stockholder

Q) 7,74:
Equity compensation plans

not approved by

(b) c

Number of shares o

Common stock

Weighted-average Remaining available

exercise price per share ¢
For future issuance

outstanding (excluding those in

stock options (4) Column (a)) (5)
$ 12.9¢ 5,89¢

(1)

(2)

stockholders (2 75 $ 13.3¢ —
We currently maintain three equity compensafilams: the 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Opktem (the “Director Plan”), the

Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive @en“Restated 2004 Plan”), and the 2006 Employteek3Purchase Plan as
amended, (the “2006 ESPP"). Since 2006, in liegrahting fully vested options under the DirectaarRlthe Company has granted
unrestricted shares of its common stock to its @amployee directors under the Restated 2004 Plaml@@si not intend to issue any
additional options or make any other awards urgkeiDtirector Plan in the future. In addition to teguance of stock options, the
Restated 2004 Plan allows for the issuance of gtacghase rights and other stock-based awardsidimg) RSUs. We previously
maintained the 1994 Long-term Incentive Plan (th@94 Plan”), which expired by its terms in April@® As of December 31, 2014,
there were no options to purchase shares of constock outstanding under the 1994 Plan. Our stodédrslpreviously approved each
of these plans and all amendments that were sulojetbckholder approval. See Note 15 “Stock-Ba3echpensation” included in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includétg&m 8 of this Annual Report on Form-K for further information and
description of our equity compensation ple

These stock options were assumed in connegtithnour acquisition of Chordiant and were origlparanted under the Chordiant
Software, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “20®an”), the Chordiant Software, Inc. 2000 Nonsgtaty Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2000 Plan™), the Chordiant Software, Inc. Amended Restated 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock @tian (the “1999 Director
Plan”), and the Prime Response Group, Inc. 1998kSbptions/Stock Issuance Plan (the “1998 PrimepBese Plan”) (collectively, the
“Chordiant Plans”). No additional awards were otyrba granted under the Chordiant Plans followirggdhate of acquisition. These
plans were not approved by our stockholders sineg were adopted at the date of acquisition. Imeotion with our acquisition of
Chordiant, all outstanding equity awards issueckutige Chordiant Plans with an exercise price 0d®3on a post-split basis, or lower
were assumed by us and converted into the riglgdeive 0.13 shares of Pegasystems common stoekdoy one share of Chordiant
common stock covered by such awards. All othertanting equity awards issued under the Chordiamdlvere cancelle

The 2005 Plan was approved by Chordiant’s stocldreldnd provided for the grant of incentive stoptians, nonstatutory stock
options, stock purchase awards, RSAs, RSUs and fattmas of equity compensation. Awards granted uride 2005 Plan generally
expire four to ten years after the grant date arerplly become exercisable over a period of twiodo years, with either yearly or
monthly vesting. The 2000 Plan provided for thengif nonstatutory stock options, restricted staoll stock bonuses to employees.
Generally, awards under the 2000 Plan vest overiaghof four years in equal monthly installmenigwv25% of the shares vesting after
one year, and the remainder vesting in equal mpmtktallments over the remaining three years. T9@9 Director Plan provided
directors to be issued a single grant at each yeanual meeting of the stockholders equal to abeurof shares of restricted stock ec
to $100,000 divided by the fair market value of €liant's common stock on the date of the annualtimgeThese shares of restricted
stock generally vest on the earlier of the nextr@tamt annual meeting
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or twelve months from the date of grant. The 19881 Response Plan provided for the grant of stgatlons, common stock and stock
bonuses to employees, non-employee directors, amglittants or other independent advisors who peal/gkrvice to Prime Response.
Awards granted under this plan had a maximum etipivaf ten years.

(3) The number of shares of common stock issued epercise of vested stock options and vestingSi&will be less than 7,818,000
because of the “net settlement” feature of moshesge stock options and RSUs. This feature en#idesmployee to satisfy the cost to
exercise (in the case of stock options) and, ifiapgple, taxes due (in the case of stock optiomsR8US) by surrendering shares to the
Company based on the fair value of the sharesatxtbrcise date (in the case of stock optionsgsting date (in the case of RSUs),
instead of selling all of the shares on the operketao satisfy these obligations. The settleméested stock options and vested R:
on a net share basis will result in fewer sharesed by the Company. During 2014, stock optionR8td holders net settled stock
options and RSUs representing the right to purchaseal of 1,193,000 shares, of which only 641,6@0e issued to the stock option
and RSU holders and the balance of the sharessuerendered to the Company to pay for the exeprise and the applicable tax:

(4) The weighted-average exercise price does ketitdo account the shares issuable upon vestiogtstanding RSUs, which have no
exercise price

(5) Includes approximately 693,000 shares remainingabla for issuance as of December 31, 2014 urfde006 ESPF

ITEM 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is contairiedhe 2015 proxy statement under the headingsté@eRelationships and Related
Transactions” and “Determination of Independenc®t & incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this item is contaimedhe 2015 proxy statement under the heading Peddent Registered Public
Accounting Firm Fees and Services” and is incorigal&erein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following are filed as part of this AnndReport on Form 10-K:
(1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementsiatuded in Item 8:

Page
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201: 41
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeded December 31, 2014, 2013, and - 42
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjLfor the years ended December 31, 2014, 20t32@12 43
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2813 201: 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@iled December 31, 2014, 2013, and - 45

(b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immedigtpreceding such exhibits are filed as part of Ansual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bseahe required information is not present or mesent in sufficient amounts to require
submission of the schedule or because the infoomagireflected in the consolidated financial stegats or notes thereto.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regiaht has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its beHaby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PEGASYSTEMS INC

B /s/ RAFEAL E. BROWN
Y

Rafeal E. Brown
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Offier and Seniot
Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 26, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Examge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been signed below on
February 26, 2015 by the following persons on beHabf the Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Title.
/s/ ALAN TREFLER Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Alan Trefler (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ RAFEAL E. BROWN Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Offic and Senior Vice
Rafeal E. Brown President
(Principal Financial Officer
/s| EFSTATHIOS KOUNINIS Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting €&fi
Efstathios Kouninis (Principal Accounting Officer
/s/ RICHARD JONES ) _ _
Richard Jones Vice Chairman and Directc
/s/ PETER GYENES _
Peter Gyenes Director
/s/ STEVEN KAPLAN _
Steven Kaplan Director
/s/ JAMES O'HALLORAN _
James C Halloran Director
/s/ LARRY WEBER _
Larry Weber Director
/s/ WILLIAM WYMAN .
William Wyman Director
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Exhibit No.

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1++

10.2++

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7++

10.8++

10.9++

10.10

10.11++

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Marct2@40, by and among Pegasystems Inc., Maple Leafiition Corp.
and Chordiant Software, Inc. (Filed as Exhibit & the Registrant’s March 15, 2010 Form 8-K anaiporated herein by
reference.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Octop2083, by and among Pegasystems Inc., Aries M&gpr Inc.,
Antenna Software, Inc. and Shareholder Represeat8grvices LLC, solely in its capacity as représidre of Stockholders
thereunder. (Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Regis’s October 11, 2013 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Restated Articles of Organization of the Registamd Amendments thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 3. heoRegistrant’s
September 30, 2014 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pegasystems Ided(& Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s December202,3 Form 8-K
and incorporated herein by referenc

Specimen Certificate Representing the Common Sigdled as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’'s Registra Statement on
Form &1 (Registration No. 3--03807) or an amendment thereto and incorporatesirhby reference.

Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Raied in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for2@93 annual
stockholders meeting and incorporated herein lgreece.

1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. (@ile the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2@8@ual stockholders
meeting and incorporated herein by referer

Lease Agreement dated February 26, 1993 betwedRdbistrant and Riverside Office Park Joint Vent(@ifded as Exhibit
10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statemerftanmn S-1 (Registration No. 333-03807) or an amesrtrthereto and
incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 1 to Lease Agreement dated Augyst994 between the Registrant and Riverside ©ffiark Joint
Venture. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the RegistrauRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration333-03807) or an
amendment thereto and incorporated herein by meter§

Amendment Number 8 to Lease Agreement dated Jyl2@12 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfror@ L{Filed as
Exhibit 10.23 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Letter Amendment to Lease Agreement dated Jul®302 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfront L(E@ed as
Exhibit 10.24 to the Registre’s 2002 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amended and Restated 2004 Long-Term Incentive leiatied May 18, 2011 (Filed as Appendix A within Begistrant’s
2011 Proxy Statement, filed May 23, 2011 and inocaged herein by referenc

Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement, as amelndedecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 ®Rkegistrant’s
2009 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amermeBecember 15, 2009. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 ®oRegistrant’s 2009
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option AgreeméRiled as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Seqtter 30, 2004
Form 1(-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Offer Letter between the Registrant and Dougl&sd. dated October 19, 2004. (Filed as Exhibit 1@®the Registrant’s
2004 Form 1-K and incorporated herein by referenc
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Exhibit No.
10.12

10.13++

10.14

10.15++

10.16

10.17

10.18++

10.19++

10.20++

10.21++

10.22++

10.23++

10.24++

+21.1
+23.1
+31.1
+31.2

+32
101.INS **
101.SCH*

EXHIBIT INDEX—(CONTINUED)

Description

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. (Filad Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s April 11, 208&m 8-K and
incorporated herein by referenc

Compensation program for members of the Regissdard of Directors, effective May 30, 2006. (Dlethin
Registrar’'s June 5, 2006 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 10 to Lease Agreement dated Jylg@6 between the Registrant and NOP Riverfrau@.L(Filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registr’s September 30, 2006 Form-Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment to Stock Option Agreement between thaesRegt and Richard H. Jones dated December 2%.ZB0ed as
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registre's January 4, 2007 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Amendment Number 11 to Lease Agreement dated &snaf 11, 2008 between the Registrant and NOP RiverfLC.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's June 30, 2008 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Lease Agreement, dated June 29, 2011 between GliRatk One, LLC and Pegasystems Inc. for premis@s@ Charles
Park (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Regist’s Form -K/A filed on July 6, 2011 and incorporated hereyrréference.

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amendedtobhed@5, 2012. (Filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Regnt's 2012
Form 1(-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2013 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsenCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
February 21, 2013 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2013 Section 16 Executive Officers Base SalariesTarget Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99 th¢oRegistrant’s
February 21, 2013 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Offer Letter between Pegasystems Inc. and Rafeatdwvn dated August 28, 2013. (Filed as Exhibit199. the
Registrar’'s September 4, 2013 Forr-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2014 Section 16 Officer/FLT Member Corporate InsesnCompensation Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 ®Registrant’s
February 18, 2014 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

2014 Section 16 Executive Officers Base SalariesTarget Bonus Payments. (Filed as Exhibit 99 th¢oRegistrant’s
February 18, 2014 Forn-K and incorporated herein by referenc

Compensation program for non-employee memberseoR#gistrant’'s Board of Directors. (Filed as Exhiifi.1 to the
Registrar’'s June 30, 2014 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referen:

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourting—Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Chief Financial Office

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 135thef Chief Executive Officer and the Chief FinahCi#ficer.
XBRL Instance documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume
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EXHIBIT INDEX—(CONTINUED)

Exhibit No. Description

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

++ Management contracts and compensatory plan orgemaents required to be filed pursuant to Item 16{fHorm 1(-K.
+ Filed herewitt
**  Submitted electronically herewi

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are hitofving formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Rejng Language): (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and Dec&hp2013, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Openatior the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, (iii) Consoli&mtements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) foyé¢laes ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, (iv) Consolidated StatemdrBarkholders’ Equity (v) Consolidated Statemeit€ash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and (¥§sNo Consolidated Financial Stateme
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SUBSIDIARIES OF PEGASYSTEMS INC.

Name of Subsidiary

State or Jurisdiction of Entity

Exhibit 21.1

Antenna Canada, In

Antenna Dexterra Asia Pacific PTY Lt
Antenna Software India Private Lt

Antenna Software, LL(

Antenna Volantis Ltd

Antenna Volantis Mobile Systems Private L
Antenna Volantis, Inc

Chordiant Software International E
Pegasystems A

Pegasystems Bermuda Limit
Pegasystems Bilgi Teknolojileri AnoniSirketi
Pegasystems B

Pegasystems Canada |

Pegasystems France, S.A.R

Pegasystems Gmb

Pegasystems Investment |i

Pega Japan K.k

Pegasystems Limite

Pegasystems Mauritit

Pegasystems Pte Limit

Pegasystems PTY Limite

Pegasystems Rus LL

PEGASYSTEMS Software (Beijing) Co., Limitt
Pegasystems Sp. Z o

Pegasystems Spain, S

Pegasystems Worldwide Ir

Pegasystems Worldwide India Private Limi
RPA Antenna Inc

Canads
Australia
India
Delaware
United Kingdom
India
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statements Nos. 333-09305, 333-53746,883®7, 333-104788, 333-116660,
333-135596, 333-166287, 333-166544 and 333-176818oom S-8 of our report dated February 26, 20d/ating to the financial statements
and financial statement schedules of Pegasystemnsaimd the effectiveness of Pegasystems Incésriat control over financial reporting,
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of #ggtems Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLF

Boston, Massachusetts
February 26, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Alan Trefler, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaotas designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: February 26, 2015

/ s/ ALAN TREFLER
Alan Trefler
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Rafeal E. Brown, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Pegasystems Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@iny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi¢'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelvmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: February 26, 2015

/ s/ RAFEAL E. BROWN
Rafeal E. Brown
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Offic er
and Senior Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Pegasystéms(the Company) on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2014 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), Alan Trefler, Chairmemd Chief Executive Officer of
Pegasystems Inc., and Rafeal E. Brown, Chief Fiad@dficer, Chief Administrative Officer, and SemiVice President of Pegasystems Inc.,
each certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 185@&dopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbaxrlkey Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairtggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/ s/ ALAN TREFLER
Alan Trefler
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/ s/ RAFEAL E. BROWN
Rafeal E. Brown
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Offic er
and Senior Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: February 26, 20:



